
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Monday 29 March 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 

This meeting will be held remotely 
 

You can watch live on YouTube: youtu.be/DwAfE1H83HI  
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Sharon Holder (Chair) 
Councillor Lucy Richardson 
Councillor Alexandra Sanderson 
Councillor Asif Siddique 
 

Councillor Mark Loveday 
 

Co-optees 

Eleanor Allen, London Diocesan Board for Schools 
Nandini Ganesh, Parentsactive Representative 
Nadia Taylor, Parent Governor Representative 
Matt Jenkins, Teacher Representative 
 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott 

Head of Governance 
 Tel 07776 672877 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
 

Date Issued: 19 March 2021 
 

https://youtu.be/DwAfE1H83HI


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Children and Education Policy and Accountability 
Committee Agenda 

 
29 March 2021 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2.   ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 The Chair will carry out a roll call to confirm attendance. Members also 
have the opportunity to declare any relevant interests. 
 
If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter.  The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES  4 - 18 

 To approve the minutes of the meetings held on 9 November 2020 and 
27 January 2021. 
 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 This meeting is being held remotely. If you would like to ask a question 
about any of the items on the agenda, either via Microsoft Teams or in 
writing, please contact: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
You can watch the meeting live on YouTube: youtu.be/DwAfE1H83HI 
 

 

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk
https://youtu.be/DwAfE1H83HI


 

5.   YOUTH VOICE UPDATE  19 - 24 

 This item provides an update on the work of the Youth Council. 
 

 

6.   SCHOOL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021  25 - 35 

 This is the annual school performance report to inform members of the 
outcomes of the Summer 2020 assessments and examinations in the 
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham primary and secondary 
schools, and the current position with regard to Ofsted school 
inspections. 
 

 

7.   LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS ANNUAL 
REPORT 2019-20  

36 - 58 

 This item presents the Looked After Children and Care Leavers Annual 
Report for 2019-20. 
 

 

8.   OPPORTUNITY TO COMMENT ON THE COUNCIL’S DRAFT 
EQUALITIES PLAN, SETTING THE INCLUSION AGENDA FOR 2021-
25  

59 - 64 

 This report alerts members to the recently launched draft Equalities Plan 
2021-2025, currently open to public consultation for a 12-week period 
until the end of April. 
 

 

9.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING   

 The next meeting is scheduled for 30 June 2021. 
 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Children and Education 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Monday 9 November 2020 
 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Sharon Holder (Chair), Lucy Richardson, 
Alexandra Sanderson and Asif Siddique 
 
Co-opted members: Eleanor Allen (London Diocesan Board for Schools), Nandini 
Ganesh (Parentsactive Representative), Matt Jenkins (Teacher Representative) and 
Nadia Taylor (Parent Governor Representative) 
 
Cabinet Member 
Councillor Larry Culhane, Cabinet Member for Children and Education 
 
Officers 
Jacqui McShannon (Director of Children’s Services) 
Bev Sharpe (AD Family Services) 
Mandy Lawson (AD SEND) 
Jan Parnell (Director of Education) 
Jo Pymont (AD Performance and Improvement) 
Sarah Bright (AD Children’s Commissioning) 
Fawad Bhatti (Policy Officer) 
David Abbott (Head of Governance) 
 
Guests: 
Denise Fox, Fulham Cross Girls School 
 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Mark Loveday. 
 
Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Lucy Richardson (she entered 
the meeting at 6.58pm). 
 
 
 
 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

2. ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
The Chair carried out a roll call to confirm attendance. Attendance is listed above. 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

3. MINUTES AND MATTERS ARISING  
 
Councillor Alexandra Sanderson asked for an explainer of mental health provision in 
the borough be circulated to members – and also asked if officers could provide 
information on the demographics of people who were accessing mental health 
services in the borough. Mandy Lawson said demographic data would be covered by 
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment due to be completed by December and 
published in the Spring. Mandy Lawson also noted that officers were in the process 
of mapping local mental health provision and would be updating the SEND local offer 
soon. And officers were planning to do something similar for mental health services. 
 
RESOLVED 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 22 September 2020 were agreed as an 
accurate record. 
 
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
No public questions were received. 
 
 

5. H&F TEACHING COMMISSION  
 
Fawad Bhatti, Policy Officer, presented the item which introduced the new H&F 
Teaching Commission, looking at how to recruit and retain the best teachers and 
school staff for the borough. 
 
Denise Fox, Headteacher of Fulham Cross Girls School and Chair of the 
Commission, and Councillor Larry Culhane, Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education and the Cabinet sponsor for the Commission, were also in attendance. 
 
Councillor Larry Culhane said the Council was committed to giving young people the 
best start in life and teachers were key to that. He wanted to make H&F the best 
place to teach. He also spoke highly of the commissioners who included great local 
headteachers and leading lights in the education world. 
 
Denise Fox, Chair of the Commission, said she was honoured to lead the 
commission. She had spent 40 years teaching in H&F and had been at Fulham 
Cross Girls School since 1985. The central issue for her was stopping the trend of 
teachers moving out of London. 
 
Matt Jenkins welcomed the commission. He asked what the balance would be 
between looking at recruitment but retention. He noted that Ealing Council had 
looked at a ‘workload kitemark’ for schools which focussed on lowering unnecessary 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

workload for school staff. Denise agreed that retention was incredibly important. At 
Fulham Cross they had been doing a lot of work around the mental health of 
teachers and were developing a Health and Wellbeing charter looking at workload. 
 
Matt Jenkins suggested the commission should invite the National Education Union 
(NEU) to take part. Denise Fox said the local NEU representative worked at Fulham 
Cross Academy and would be involved. 
 
Nandini Ganesh asked if SEN was on the commission’s agenda and if there was an 
SEN representative. Denise Fox said she would ensure that special schools were 
closely involved. 
 
Nandini Ganesh asked if the statistics in the presentation included special schools. 
Fawad Bhatti said the statistics included all maintained schools. 
 
 
Councillor Lucy Richardson thought the Ealing kitemark was a good idea and asked 
if the commission was looking at different policies across London. Denise Fox said 
they would be looking at good practice across the Country. 
 
Jan Parnell, Director of Education, welcomed the commission and said it could 
incorporate existing initiatives like the workload reduction pilots endorsed by the 
NEU. She added that Teach First said H&F was the go-to borough for Teach First 
graduates. 
 
Committee members asked what the key factor for retention issues in the borough 
was. Denise Fox said from her experience they key issues were workload, pay and 
housing. A number of teachers moved out of London when they started having 
children to places with more affordable housing. 
 
The Chair summed up the discussion and said she looked forward to the 
commission’s report next year. 
 
 

6. FREE SCHOOL MEALS - OCTOBER HALF-TERM BRIEFING  
 
Sarah Bright, AD for Children’s Commissioning, presented the update on free school 
meals in H&F over the October half term break. She noted that the Council had 
initially hoped for support from the Government but the Wednesday before half term 
they announced that no ongoing support would be provided. The Council quickly 
pulled together a plan for distributing vouchers to support families over half term. 
Now officers were looking at how to ensure families can be supported over the winter 
period. 
 
Sarah Bright added that there had been an announcement over the weekend from 
the Government promising some support for the most vulnerable and a holiday 
activity scheme. Further details were due to be released shortly. 
 
Councillor Larry Culhane said he was proud that the Council could step up and take 
action, despite years of austerity. He thanked Sarah Bright and her team for their 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

hard work, Tesco who turned around vouchers in hours rather than days, and 
schools who got the vouchers out to the families who needed them the most.  
 
Councillor Alexandra Sanderson gave her thanks to everyone who worked so hard 
on this. The Chair also gave her thanks – especially to schools and the businesses 
that supported the scheme. 
 
 

7. OFSTED INSPECTION OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES  
 
Bev Sharpe, AD Family Services, and Jo Pymont, AD Performance and 
Improvement, presented the report which gave an overview of the Ofsted framework 
for inspecting Children Services, improvements from the last inspection of H&F 
Children Services and the feedback from the annual engagement meeting in 
September. This item was taken with Item 8 which provided an overview of the 
framework for inspecting of Children Services, including the interim arrangements 
put in place due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
Councillor Lucy Richardson asked if there was a data dashboard for children’s 
safeguarding. Bev Sharpe said officers had been trying to develop a multi-agency 
dashboard but it was complicated due to the fact it was a tri-borough service. The 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board held data but it was not as sophisticated as it 
could be. Councillor Richardson noted that the Adults dashboard was good and very 
accessible. Officers added that internally, the local safeguarding data available was 
quite sophisticated and weekly trend data was sent to senior leaders. 
 
Nadia Taylor congratulated officers on the service’s ‘strong good’ rating. She asked if 
the case of Jonty Bravery (who made international news after throwing a child from 
the balcony of the Tate Modern) was part of the inspection, as he was partly in the 
care of the borough. Bev Sharpe said Ofsted didn’t look at the case when they 
completed their assessments. A serious case review was being conducted and was 
nearing its conclusion. It would come to the committee in the new year. 
 
Members of the committee asked for more information on the self-assessment. Bev 
Sharpe said the self-assessment was an opportunity for services to talk about their 
strengths and areas for development. She said she was pleased with this year’s self-
evaluation and the service had shown good progress since the last inspection, 
despite the challenges of Covid. 
 
Nandini Ganesh noted that the Haven children’s home had previously received an 
‘inadequate’ rating and asked for an update on progress there. Mandy Lawson said 
the Haven had an inspection in December 2019 and the rating was raised to 
‘requires improvement’. Ofsted visited again on 30 October 2020 for an assurance 
visit and the outcome was very positive. An improvement board had been in place 
for over a year now. 
 
Councillor Asif Siddique requested that the report on the Haven be emailed to 
members. Mandy Lawson said she would take advice and would share it if she was 
able to. 
 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

ACTION: Mandy Lawson 
 

8. CHILDREN’S SERVICES INSPECTION FRAMEWORKS  
 
This item was taken together with item 7. 
 
 

9. EDUCATION SERVICE UPDATE REPORT 2020  
 
Jan Parnell, Director of Education, presented the report that provided an update on 
the OFSTED categorisations of schools prior to the pandemic and the ‘Safe return to 
school’ for the September / October half term. She highlighted some of the 
Educations service’s key priorities and progress against those areas, including: 

 Peer to peer reviews 

 Development of the Learning Partnership 

 Supporting children with SEN 

 Curriculum development 
 
Matt Jenkins asked if the peer-to-peer work currently in primary schools would be 
extended to secondary and further education. Jan Parnell said she wanted to move 
in that direction because the outcomes were good, but the Council would need to 
ensure academies were willing to pay for the support. 
 
Councillor Lucy Richardson asked if there were awards or badges that could be 
adopted to show what schools were doing around the environment and recycling. 
She also asked if the Council had external partners for outdoor learning. 
 
Jan Parnell said the Council had partnered with local partners like Urbanwise on the 
climate education programme and partners like Hammersmith Urban Garden 
Association on environmental education. Regarding accreditation, she noted that the 
Council had been working with the UN through Educate Global. Jan Parnell said she 
could provide a briefing note on their work with the UN. 

ACTION: Jan Parnell 
 
Committee members asked if there had been any change in numbers of parents and 
children taking up elective home education during the pandemic. 
  
Jan Parnell said there had been a spike in elective home education since the Covid 
pandemic began. Since August 2020 there had been 97 new referrals compared with 
just 38 in the previous year’s entire autumn term. But that spike had calmed since 
the half term. Officers were monitoring the situation and working to ensure that 
schools spoke to parents about the benefits of school education. 
 
Councillor Alexandra Sanderson asked if the Council had to maintain a register of 
home-schooled children. Jan Parnell said it was recommended and H&F had a 
robust register. Schools notified the Council when children came off their registers 
and officers followed up on any children missing from education. H&F had lobbied 
the Government to strengthen the law around elective home education. 
 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Sanderson asked if officers expected a similar surge in the number of 
unregistered schools. Jan Parnell said the Council had a duty to report unregistered 
schools and had recently received some additional funding to investigate out of 
school settings. An evaluated report on this project was expected at the beginning of 
next term. 
 
Councillor Sanderson asked if the Council could ensure home-schooled children 
were being fed. Jan Parnell said it was an area that should be looked at – when 
children were taken out of school, they were effectively opted out of any schools 
meals programmes. 
 
Councillor Sanderson asked if there were routine checks in care homes and how 
often they were done. Mandy Lawson said Ofsted usually visited twice a year 
unannounced but not during lockdown. Officers also carry out regular visits during 
the year. Councillor Sanderson requested a report on Covid and care leavers at the 
next meeting. 

ACTION: Mandy Lawson 
 
The Chair thanked Jan Parnell and the officers in the Education team for their help in 
keeping the borough’s schools open. 
 

10. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
The next meeting was scheduled for the 27th of January 2021. 
 

 
Meeting started: 6.30 pm 
Meeting ended: 8.18 pm 

 
 
Chair   

 
 
 
 
Contact officer David Abbott 

Head of Governance 
 Tel 07776 672877 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Joint Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

Budget Meeting 
 

Minutes 
 

Wednesday 27 January 2021 

 

 
PRESENT 
 
Children’s and Education Policy and Accountability Committee 
Councillors: Sharon Holder (Co-Chair), Lucy Richardson, Alexandra Sanderson, 
Asif Siddique and Mark Loveday 
 
Co-opted members: Eleanor Allen (London Diocesan Board for Schools), Nandini 
Ganesh (Parentsactive Representative), Matt Jenkins (Teacher Representative) and 
Nadia Taylor (Parent Governor Representative) 
 
Health, Inclusion and Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee 
Councillors: Lucy Richardson (Chair), Jonathan Caleb-Landy, Bora Kwon, Amanda 
Lloyd-Harris and Mercy Umeh  
 
Co-opted members: Victoria Brignell - Action on Disability (Action  On Disability), 
Jim Grealy - H&F Save Our NHS (H&F Save Our NHS), Keith Mallinson and Roy 
Margolis 
 
Other members in attendance: Councillor Ben Coleman (Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social Care), Stephen Cowan (Leader of the Council), Larry 
Culhane (Cabinet Member for Children and Education), Sue Fennimore (Deputy 
Leader) and Patricia Quigley (Cabinet Assistant) 
 
Officers and guests: 
Kim Smith (Chief Executive Officer) 
Jo Baty (Assistant Director Mental Health, Learning Disability And Provided 
Services) 
Sarah Bright (Assistant Director - Children’s Commissioning) 
Tony Burton (Head of Finance, Children and Education) 
Prakash Daryanani (Head of Finance, Social Care) 
Karen Galey (Assistant Director for the Economy) 
Emily Hill (Director of Finance) 
Linda Jackson (Director of Covid-19 Response & Recovery) 
Dr Nicola Lang (Director of Public Health) 
Mandy Lawson (Assistant Director Education and Disability)  
Andrew Lord (Head of strategic planning and monitoring)  
Kamal Motalib (Head of Economic Development)  

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Jacqui McShannon (Director of Children’s Services) 
Jan Parnell (Director of Education) 
Jo Pymont (Assistant Director, Performance and Improvement) 
Lisa Redfern (Strategic Director of Social Care) 
Bev Sharpe (Director of Family Services) 
Nick Skoric (Communications Officer) 
Bathsheba Mall (Committee Coordinator) 
Merril Hammer (H&F Save Our NHS) 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
None.  
 

2. ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

3. COVID-19 - UPDATE  
 
Linda Jackson provided a verbal update outlining the council’s on-going response to 
Covid-19.  The three key areas were the borough’s infection rate; testing strategy 
and the implementation of mass testing for people who were asymptomatic; and the 
vaccination strategy currently being led by the NHS. In the past seven days 506 
infectious cases had been recorded and the most recent figure of 439.1 indicated a 
reduction per hundred thousand of the population.  At the peak of the second wave, 
this figure was closer to 1000 per hundred thousand of population. The positivity rate 
was 15.8%, so that for every one hundred people, 15.8% had tested positive.  Linda 
Jackson outlined the council’s activities which included support for local business 
throughout the pandemic, remarkable work around social isolation, free school meal 
vouchers and work with community and voluntary sector mutual aid groups, and the 
Community Aid Network and referrals to the foodbank had increased significantly.   
 
Linda Jackson highlighted three key elements which combined to form a Covid 
defence.  First, the community needed to continue to social isolate, going out only 
when necessary.  There were three, mass test sites and five pop-up sites located 
across the borough for asymptomatic tests.  Additional test options included free 
home testing kits and lateral flow test.  A third element was the NHS delivery of the 
vaccination through primary care networks across the borough at key sites in White 
City, Shepherds Bush and Parsons Green according to the eligibility criteria.   
 

The target figure for completing vaccination for these groups was 14 February 2021 
and which incorporated the impact of lower than expected vaccine take up.  There 
was significant work being undertaken locally to address this and strong 
encouragement to accept vaccine appointments as and when these were offered.  
H&F clinical commissioning group was allocating supplies of the vaccines locally.   
 

Victoria Brignell commended Linda Jackson and H&F colleagues for their 
commitment to protecting residents and to ensure continuity in services. Clarification 
was sought regarding vaccination arrangements for carers and personal assistants 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

employed by disabled people under the direct payment programme. It was confirmed 
that all personal assistants had received a letter this week and those who were direct 
payment recipients would be asked to confirm the number and details of people they 
employed.  
 

ACTION: For the Director of Covid-19 to provide further detail  
about the council’s response to Covid-19 at the next  

meeting of the Committee. 
 
Echoing earlier comments, Councillor Lloyd-Harris commended the strength of the 
council’s response and thanked senior officers for their work, undertaken in 
challenging and difficult circumstances.  Clarification was sought about the hesitancy 
about testing in care homes.  Linda Jackson confirmed that testing was required if a 
care home wanted to remain open but clarified that vaccine “hesitancy” was an issue 
nationally.  Lisa Redfern confirmed that approximately 94 people had received the 
vaccine at H&F care homes but there were also smaller, supported living units to 
include within this.  Staff take up had been encouraged and generally this had been 
positive.  A whole community engagement plan had been agreed, working with a 
range of groups and resources about the vaccine had been distributed in several 
languages and formats to ensure an effective dissemination of information.   
 
Councillor Jonathan Caleb-Landy thanked Lisa Redfern, Linda Jackson and their 
teams for all their work and echoed earlier comments, recognising how fortunate the 
borough had been to have their support.  Councillor Caleb-Landy asked if there were 
communities that were harder to reach and the areas where there was low vaccine 
uptake.  Linda Jackson explained that she was expecting to receive local data from 
the CCG with a demographic profile of those refusing the vaccine. It had been 
acknowledged that there were higher rates of hesitancy amongst black Afro-
Caribbean’s with about 50% refusing the vaccine but a more detailed breakdown of 
the demographic and data within this was needed.  The issue of some minority 
ethnic groups not having the vaccine was a concern.  Having trusted community 
voices to answer questions about the vaccines helped to counter the misinformation 
that was currently being disseminated was critical.  Linda Jackson confirmed that the 
council’s communications team were working to challenge misinformation as a part 
of a wider strategy to improve vaccine take up and to ease anxiety about the 
vaccine.   
 
Councillor Ben Coleman confirmed that a programme of engagement events about 
vaccine hesitancy was being planned to initiate and support local conversations 
about vaccine confidence.  The council had raised the issue with NHS and CCG 
colleagues and requested focused data about “why” the offer of a vaccine was 
declined. Councillor Coleman expressed concern that an opportunity to address the 
historically low vaccine uptake had been missed.  There was a shocking correlation 
between low uptake and some minority ethnic communities which were recognised 
as having experienced health inequalities correlated poor housing, low income and 
deprivation.  This was a worrying administrative failure by the CCG to not address 
this earlier in the pandemic and a serious concern. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Bora Kwon, Linda Jackson explained that 
the council was not eligible for additional funding recently made available to tackle 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

vaccine engagement, but it may receive any surplus if available.  The London 
boroughs of Brent and Harrow had been allocated funding and had agreed to share 
any learning obtained as a result.  Linda Jackson encouraged members of the 
committee and others in the meeting to help champion the benefits of vaccination.   
 
In response to a further question from Councillor Caleb-Landy about the provision of 
mental health support provided to staff Linda Jackson confirmed that there were 
several staff assistance initiatives in place, in addition to a regular programme of 
staff wellbeing online engagement events and webinars. 
 
Co-optee Nadia Taylor sought clarification around which eligibility group recipients of 
a carers allowance had been placed in and the possible dates that carers might 
receive the vaccine.  Linda Jackson confirmed that locally, where a person was 
known to have a carer an appointment was likely to be offered to that carer.   
  
Co-optee Jim Grealy commended the excellent work that had been undertaken by 
the council and was impressed by the amount of information that had been provided 
across the borough utilising multiple media channels. Given this, the absence of 
similar guidance and information on vaccine uptake was queried. He also raised 
additional concerns about those who were housebound, struggled with travel and 
those who could not be contacted by GPs as they did not have mobile telephones. 
Linda Jackson explained that the council was working with healthcare providers to 
support the vaccination of the over 80s cohort. Of this group, there currently 
remained approximately a 100 housebound people in H&F who wanted to be 
vaccinated.  For the 75+ cohort, the NWL target was to have 75% vaccinated by 14 
February 2021.  Logistics around transporting and storing the Pfizer vaccine had 
resulted in some delays which had become more manageable as the AstraZeneca 
vaccine was made available.  Linda Jackson confirmed that she would convey the 
points about messaging to GP practices with CCG colleagues.  
 

ACTION:  Director of Covid-19 to provide feedback to the local CCG  
regarding consistent messaging.  

  
Councillor Asif Siddique enquired about what provision had been made to support 
vulnerable groups to access test sites and whether sites were fully accessible.  It 
was confirmed that there were several accessible pop up sites available and similar 
provision had been made regarding vaccination centres.  In addition, all staff who 
worked within these areas had received training in providing additional support 
where required with high standards of customer care. 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee noted the verbal report. 
 

4. 2021 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  
 
Corporate Overview 
 
Emily Hill provided a corporate overview of the council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS).  It was clarified that Appendix 4 fees and charges was not relevant 
to the report as this referenced fees and charges determined outside of the council’s 

Page 13



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

policy which was, for both adult social care and children’s services, to freeze these 
without exception.  Setting out the overall financial context it was explained that the 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) had for the past ten 
years advocated for austerity with a challenging reduction in revenue funding.  Core 
spending power for revenue activities had seen a slight increase of 4.5% compared 
to 2010/11 but the current financial position was significantly worse in real terms.   
 
The council needed to make significant savings whilst concurrently managing a 
growth in budget for demand led services in Social Care and Children’s Services.  
This has been difficult and required a draw on reserves for funding unexpected 
levels of demand and a corresponding reduction in the level of reserves which also 
needed to be maintained as a safety buffer.  It was noted that a fees and charges 
compensation scheme would partly fund council tax and business rate losses, with 
local authorities meeting the first 5% followed by 75p in the pound there after.  The 
remainder would need to be met by the council.   
 
The economic impact of Covid-19 highlighted a significant reduction in business 
rates currently expected in the future which represented a funding risk to the council.  
A Covid specific six-month contingency budget was in place to address the level of 
associated risk which had also been increased to reflect this. 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Jacqui McShannon outlined how the council’s ambitious plan for Children’s Services 
(CHS) would be underpinned by high aspirations for the borough’s children offering 
protection from harm, abuse and exploitation, and be supported in their learning with 
equitable access to education.  CHS was a highly regulated, demand led service and 
Jacqui McShannon commended the work of community partners. The current 
uncertainty, historic and current budget pressures meant that the service was having 
to meet increased complexity of need with higher numbers of adolescents at risk.  
About 1300 children were supported through social care with a range of needs 
including 100-50 with complex high needs and who also required a protection plan.  
 
Tony Burton provided a breakdown of the allocations which included in excess of 
£46 million as the general fund budget within services for children (including children 
with disabilities) and young people and education. The overall income budget was 
just under £95 million which included £48 million of the delegated maintained and 
special school grant budget. Within this, the high needs special grant would be 
significantly increased at £26 million.  There would be an allocation of £16 million for 
early years learning with a targeted offer funnelled through nurseries, schools and 
child minders.  The key focus was to protect frontline services with cost reductions 
predicated on achieving high quality, value for money services.  Cost pressures 
included non-placement expenditure and transport costs specifically linked to social 
care.  There was also significant legal expenditure which was vital to protect 
vulnerable children through legal proceedings. 
 
Councillor Alexandra Sanderson enquired if the borough would be fully compensated 
for financial loss linked to Covid and whether this had been paid by the government.  
Emily Hill explained that given the ongoing impact of Covid it was difficult to forecast 
the total of Covid related expenditure and how this might be met.  A ringfenced 

Page 14



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

emergency grant had been received in four tranches and additional Covid grants 
would be tracked and monitored.  In addition, a potential £4.5 million loss on council 
tax was expected but 75% of this would be covered centrally.  The position would 
continue to be monitored but it was unlikely that incurred losses would be fully 
funded. In response to a follow up question it was explained that the impact of the 
levelling up policy on finance was unknown, but it was likely that funding would move 
away from inner London.  Government spending had been significant and there 
would have to be some consideration of financial losses being recouped through any 
future funding mechanisms for local government. 
 
Emily Hill clarified that ‘increased net borrowing’ referred to in the report was the cost 
of borrowing and separate from the financial return on investments which had been 
very low or almost negative. The expectation had been that more would be borrowed 
if the council undertook regeneration and development schemes and that the low 
interest rate would have an impact. It was confirmed that the cost of holiday and free 
school meals was being fully met through grants provided covering specific activities 
like this. Jacqui McShannon confirmed that the cost of meals provided during half 
term was also being fully covered.  There had been significant half term and Easter 
holiday provision for approximately 4000 families and CHS had worked with schools 
to distribute food vouchers. Measures were in place to secure future and 
contingency vouchers should these be required. 
 
Councillor Sanderson commented on the achievement of saving £400,000 on care 
leaver placements through in borough placements and sought further details. The 
initiative was led by Beverly Sharpe and co-ordinated with colleagues in housing to 
secure in-borough, refurbished accommodation for care leavers where they would 
also receive better quality support. Approximately 20 young people had been placed 
with a further 35 that could be offered placements in future. CHS was also working 
closely with colleagues from the Economy Department to transition young people 
when appropriate into their own tenancies which had also contributed to efficiencies. 
Most care leavers wanted to return to their home authority from out of borough spot 
purchased placements. 
 
Councillor Loveday commented referenced historic and repeated overspends within 
the CHS budget however it was acknowledged the amount of overspend this year 
had been significantly reduced.  Jacqui McShannon confirmed an overspend of 
approximately £750,000 on the high needs block which represented a considerable 
reduction.  It was clarified that an agreement to address an overspend of £15 million 
from reserves over a five-year period was now in its third year.  Emily Hill explained 
that there were currently ongoing national discussions about high needs block 
funding and recently introduced regulations which prevented such funding to be 
sourced from the general fund.  The advice from auditors was to ensure that 
reserves were set aside as a contingency plan to fund the deficit to date and 
included within the financial forecast.  Significant work had been undertaken to 
ensure that spending fell within the annual allocation which was close to being 
achieved within the next financial year. 
 
Tony Burton outlined the overall strategy to control the historic deficit which had 
developed in the previous financial years to address budget pressures through 
commissioning and best practice reviews.  Value for money spending combined with 

Page 15



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

growth around travel care and support of non-placement care expenditure were 
contributory factors.  It was expected that next year’s budget would be broadly 
balanced by considering demand management, early years intervention, appropriate 
contracts and timely needs assessment, together with workforce redesign to deploy 
services more efficiently to ensure a significantly reduced spend. 
 
Councillor Loveday referred to the minutes in which the previous borough director of 
children and education services had reportedly outlined development plans to rebuild 
schools to help manage wider education finance proposals.  Councillor Loveday 
noted that these were not contained within the current MTFS for CHS.  Emily Hill 
acknowledged that there had been concern about the cumulative deficit from the 
high needs funding block and that some compensation might have been achievable 
through a schools rebuild programme and any capital receipts generated. As the 
policy had developed however, other more viable options were presented. 
 
Councillor Holder invited a parent governor co-optee, Nandini Ganesh, to put her 
question to officers which highlighted the need for independent travel training 
support and why this was not proactively supported. Jacqui McShannon concurred 
with the known benefits of this approach and confirmed that this provision was in 
place with the recruitment of independent travel advisors, confirming the council’s 
commitment to ensuring quality support services for vulnerable children with complex 
needs. 
 
Social Care 
 
Lisa Redfern outlined that the departments overall vision to support residents in 
remaining independent and to support people with disabilities through the 
independent living strategy.  Significant achievements included no social care 
discharges however, the ongoing difficulties around how social care should be 
funded remained unresolved. The financial impact of Covid was considerable and 
had made it harder to achieve savings for a demand led service.  This was expected 
to grow as the number of those discharged from hospital increased, combined with 
the accelerated cost of care and the council’s commitment to pay the London living 
wage to contractors and sub-contractors. 
 
Social care highlights achievements also included free home care, together with 
subsidised meals on wheels charged at £2, and no increase in careline charges, 
which were significant given the current economic climate. The department’s 
response to Covid had been highly commended and recognised as an exemplar of 
good practice when the borough’s care homes were closed to protect vulnerable 
residents.  There had been innovative infection control led by Dr Nicola Lang, care 
home and home care staff were offered financial support to encourage wide ranging 
testing, and the council procured and freely distributed in excess of 2 million pieces 
of personal protective equipment to care workers and frontline staff.  The quality of 
care was improved and there had been close working with providers, combined with 
early and rapid problem solving deploying high quality management tools such as 
dashboards and timely reviews.  
 
Positive feedback from government, the former chief executive of Public Health 
England, Duncan Selbie and residents had increased fourfold since April 2020.  An 

Page 16



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

integrated management approach had helped to deliver a balanced budget, despite 
significant and deeply challenging circumstances. Care home fluctuations had 
resulted in a steep downward trend attributable to Covid however, it was anticipated 
that this would increase following improved infection control. The service was 
continuing to see greater acuity of need with people being discharged with more 
complex care needs and there were increased costs concurrent with this.  The level 
of complex care and support needed for those with long Covid was unknown but 
high acuity of need corresponded to high cost.  Prakash Daryanani provided a brief 
trend analysis and highlighted areas of resilience, spend variation, and care home 
placement costs which had decreased between 2020 and 2021. Despite the impact 
of Covid there had been improved activity and systems management. 
 
Councillor Lloyd-Harris commended the innovative approach led by senior officers 
and the way in which had protected the borough’s most vulnerable residents.  
Despite the decision to sustain vulnerable residents through free home care, 
subsidised meals on wheels and careline, she asked whether the council had 
reached a point where this could no longer be considered sustainable.  Lisa Redfern 
responded that considerable work had been undertaken to improve the quality of 
operational systems and how these were managed through the implementation of 
policy.  The primary focus was to maintain targeted support for those who needed 
care and to undertake effective and timely reviews to sustain this focused delivery.  
Councillor Coleman observed that there were better ways to achieve a reduction in 
costs without a corresponding reduction in services and that there were currently no 
plans to increase services but to continue to deliver these through an innovative and 
creative approach to service design and delivery.  
 
Victoria Brignell asked if the independent living fund was abolished and the funding 
passed to councils directly, would this be passported to recipients and sought an 
assurance that the council would not end this provision.  It was acknowledged that 
this was currently unknown as there was no decision yet as to whether the fund 
would be extended beyond 2021/22.  There was an assurance that the current 
political administration had no intention to end the fund as it enabled people to live 
independent and fulfilling lives.  
 
Councillor Richardson thanked officers for the detailed presentations and overview of 
departmental budgets set within a corporate and national context.  Policy and 
accountability members valued the work of officers and proposals designed to 
deliver a strong and resilient budget framework in uniquely challenging and difficult 
times.  
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee noted the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will be 
recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
 

Meeting started: 6.30pm 
Meeting ended: 8.52pm 

 
 
Chair   

 
 
 
Contact officer Bathsheba Mall 

Committee Coordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 E-mail: Bathsheba.Mall@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 

Page 18

mailto:Bathsheba.Mall@lbhf.gov.uk


Youth Voice 
Key updates

CEPAC- 29th March 21
Youth Council

Brenda Whinnett- Youth Voice Coordinator 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 5



Youth 
Council & 
Inclusive 
Youth Voice

✓Weekly virtual meetings throughout lockdown (chaired by 
Youth Councillors) on accessible platform (GOOGLE 
MEET). Regular WhatsApp discussions and Menti-meter 
polls.

✓26 active Youth Councillors- more members joining weekly.

✓Continuing to increase diversity and proportionality through 
targeted services, council residents communication (GET 
INVOLVED & Newsletters) and home-schooling sites.

✓Focus on COVID 19, e.g. youth centred communication, 
videos to share key messages with young people and to 
highlight the impact upon them.

❖Here is an example-
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Tmx-fPfbsXE

✓Development of the Inclusive Youth Voice Network -
bringing together young people and professionals, to 
extend and strengthen youth voice, share opportunities and 
to collaborate.

P
age 20

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Tmx-fPfbsXE


Focus for Youth Council and YV Network
(Identified by youth led research and prioritised by the Network)

P
age 21



Youth Voice 
in 2021

✓Developing the use of social media and accessible information. 

✓Changing Lives- Inclusive Employment Project

✓SPEAK OUT FORUM 

✓FOCUS ON EMBEDDING CO-PRODUCTION. 

Examples:

❑Independent Living Project (Disabled young people empowered 
to develop recommendations).

❑Access to Mental Health Services Review and 
Recommendations (in collaboration with Healthwatch)

❑Youth HUB & Digital Offer

❑Young Hammersmith & Fulham Website.

✓2021 Youth Achievement Awards

H&F Youth Achievement Awards | LBHF

Live streamed event on 4th May-

12 categories celebrating the diversity of our young people’s achievements.

P
age 22

https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/children-and-young-people/hf-youth-achievement-awards


Just.. some 
examples of 
how young 

people’s 
priorities are 

driving 
work.. 

Young People’s Mental Health

✓ Extensive promotion of online support for young people 

✓ Co-production project on access to mental health services with 
Healthwatch. 

Access to jobs and training

✓ Collaborative work across the council to focus on inclusive employment 
for young people with People and Talent, Children’s and Adults Services 
and The Economy, brokerage with local business.

✓ Changing Lives Session with seniors managers.

✓ Youth Hub- co-design and implementation of an eco-system of council and 
partner services for young people that is visible, easy to navigate, 
coordinated and responsive to each individual’s needs. Including better 
access to and readiness for employment and development of soft skills.

Social Isolation & Impact of COVID 19 

✓ Youth led informal programme of lockdown activities & podcasts. 

Relationship between police and young people 

✓Ongoing action focused meetings between police representatives and 
Youth Council exploring the issues (e.g. YP influenced social media 
communications & 2 way video project)

✓ Youth led event being planned for June 21

P
age 23



Strengthening 
the 

governance of 
Youth Voice  

• Using Coproduction as the way we work – doing 
things with young people not to them (Co-
production checklist).

• Youth Council Manifesto for 21-22 in place by end of 
April 21. An identified strategic lead for each area to 
drive forward recommendations from young people 
(process flow chart).

• Youth Voice Impact Report- to be produced annually 
outlining achievements, impact and next steps.

• Regular slots at CLT, LSCP, CEPAC and other relevant 
boards to present and support actions of young 
people’s recommendations. Clear process for  
actioning recommendations & ‘You-Said- We Did’.

• Continued and valued involvement and support of 
the CEPAC Chair (Councillor Holder) and links to the 
PACS.

• Co-production of a series of recommendations from 
young people that can applied throughout 
departments. e.g. how young people would like to 
access information & support.

P
age 24



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 
Report to: 

 
Children and Education Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

Date: 

 
29 March 2021 

Subject: 

 
School Performance Report 2021 

Report Author(s): 

 
Jan Parnell, Director of Education and 
Keith Tysoe, Strategic Lead Education and Inclusion 

 
Responsible Directors: 

 
Jacqui McShannon, Director of Children Services 

 

 
Summary  
 
This is the annual school performance report to inform members of the outcomes of 
the Summer 2020 assessments and examinations in the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham primary and secondary schools, and the current position 
with regard to Ofsted school inspections. 
 

 
Recommendation 
 

The Committee is asked to note and comment on the report. 

 
 

 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This is the annual school performance report to inform Members of the Children 

and Education Policy and Accountability Committee of the outcomes of the 
Summer 2020 assessments and examinations in the London Borough of 
Hammersmith and Fulham primary and secondary schools, and the current 
position with regard to Ofsted school inspections.  

 
1.2 2020 was an extra ordinary year due to the COVID-19 pandemic which led to 

the part closure of schools between March and July and the national lockdown. 
The government’s decision to cancel exams led to grades being decided by 
teacher prediction and final school adjustment – Centre assessed grades 
(CAGs). A central system of checking grades between schools using an 
algorithm based on historic school performance data was changed following a 
national outcry. When the results were initially issued the application of the 
algorithm resulted in grade reductions from the CAGs for nearly 40% of pupils. 
Therefore, Ofqual announced on 17th August to award students the higher of 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



either their CAG or the calculated standardised grade. This same system was 
then adopted for GCSE and vocational qualifications.  

 
1.3 Data showed that for a significant 39% of grades awarded the CAG was higher 

than the initial calculated grade. Pupils receiving A level grades experienced a 
great amount of distress and anxiety which could have been avoided if the 
process of setting CAGs had been checked earlier in the process to ensure 
consistency and good practice by schools rather than automatically adjusting 
individual pupil grades using an algorithm.  

 
1.4 For pupils, the pandemic has had a detrimental impact on the continuity of 

education. The impact has been disproportionately affected pupils from 
disadvantaged backgrounds.  Whilst schools remain resilient offering face to 
face contact for vulnerable children and children from key worker households, it 
has been widely reported that children have not made sufficient progress.  
Despite a national scheme to roll out digital devices to disadvantaged children 
there remains a digital divide particularly compounded by poor access to the 
internet.  Scholl leaders and LA Officers are working constructively to support 
Young people suffering from increased anxiety, mental health concerns and 
poor social interaction with the loss of learning opportunities.  

 
2. PERFORMANCE HEADLINES 
 
2.1 The Education Service would like members to make particular note of the main 

performance headlines for 2019: 
 

KS4 
o Overall Hammersmith and Fulham secondary schools which educate 

1325 learners continue to out-perform on key metrics compared to 
national data. In 2019, Progress 8 (0.27) is above average and when 
compared to national data (-0.03) remains very impressive. 

o Schools in Hammersmith and Fulham remain aspirational, entering 
72.7% for EBacc compared to 40% nationally. The outcomes of EBacc 
(Average point score of 4.97%) exceed national averages (4.06) which 
puts the borough’s schools in a good place for the New Common 
Inspection Framework (CIF) as the EBacc is a key measure. 

o Attainment 8 (53%) against 46% nationally represents high levels of 
achievement in Hammersmith and Fulham and places the borough 8th 
nationally and first in Inner London.   

o At Grade 5+ in English and mathematics at GCSE, Hammersmith and 
Fulham is over 10% higher than the national average (55.5%) against 
(43%) nationally. 

o Hammersmith and Fulham ranked top in Inner London for GCSE 
grades 9-5 with English and mathematics; for Attainment 8 and top 
nationally for the EBacc at Level 4 + with English and Mathematics. 
 

Post 16 
o At Post 16, the borough’s average grade at C+ sits with the national 

picture but the average point score is marginally higher than national at 
33.19 (against 32.87) 

Page 26



o In Hammersmith & Fulham the trajectory over the last three years 
continues to show that the Borough has a very low level of NEETS 
(Young people who are Not in Education, Employment or Training) and 
is within the top three London Boroughs. Nationally Hammersmith and 
Fulham is well below the NEET average.  
 

KS1&2 
o In primary schools, at Key Stage 1 and 2, the percentage of pupils 

reaching the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics is 
significantly above the national average in all three subjects 
(combined); consequently, Hammersmith and Fulham ranked 9th 
nationally and fourth in Inner London for the percentage of pupils 
reaching the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics at 
Key Stage 2. 

o The percentage of children who achieved the expected standard in the 
phonic decoding check at the end of Year 1 is 86% (national is 82%) 
indicating that children’s early reading is strong in many of the 
borough’s schools. 

 
EYFS  
o The percentage of children who secured the good level of development 

at the end of Reception is marginally above the national average at 
73% (72%).   
 

Pupil Premium 
o The gap in outcomes for children in receipt of the pupil premium 

remains narrower than the national gap at both Key Stage 2 and Key 
Stage 4; 

 
Ofsted ratings  
o The proportion of schools judged to be good or outstanding has been 

sustained and is currently above the published national average. 
 
3. PRIMARY SCHOOL OUTCOMES  
 
Foundation Stage (reception) 
 
3.1 The 2019/20 national curriculum EYFS assessment were cancelled due to the 

coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
 
Phonics Year 1 and Year 2 (5 and 6 year olds) 
 
3.2 The 2019/20 national curriculum assessment were also cancelled due to the 

coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. Cancellation of the phonics screening 
check in June 2020 means incoming year 2 pupils did not take the check in 
year 1. In the 2020/21 academic year only, it is statutory for schools to 
administer a past version of the phonics screening check to year 2 pupils during 
the second half of the 2020 autumn term and return results to the LA.  The LA 
retains a pivotal role in supporting the assessment and moderation of children 
attainment in primary phase. 

Page 27



 
Key Stage 1 (end of Year two – 7 year old pupils) 
 
3.3 In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Department for Education has 

cancelled the 2019/20 national curriculum assessments and associated data 
collections for end year 2. 

 
Key Stage 2 (end of primary school – 11 year old pupils) 

 
3.4 In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Department for Education has 

cancelled the 2019/20 national curriculum assessments and associated data 
collections for Key Stage 2. 

3.5 The education service helped schools and the voluntary sector to organize 
targeted transition summer camps for our most vulnerable children at this most 
critical stage of their education. 

 
3.6 Throughout this period primary schools worked together supported by LA 

advisor on a recovery curriculum with a focus on blended/online learning and 
reading recovery. This was co-constructed by headteachers with input from a 
seconded HMI Primary Inspector.  The recovery curriculum materials are on the 
Lilla Huset website and have been shared beyond the LA.  These were 
complemented by emotional recovery support pack developed by our 
educational psychologists. 

 
4. SECONDARY SCHOOL OUTCOMES  
 
Key Stage 4 (Years 10 and 11) GCSEs  
 
4.1 Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the summer exam series was cancelled in 

2020. Pupils scheduled to sit GCSE and A/AS level exams in 2020 were 
awarded either a Centre assessment grade (based on what the school or 
college believed the student would most likely have achieved had exams gone 
ahead) or their calculated grade using a model developed by Ofqual - 
whichever was the higher of the two.  

 
4.2 The cancellation of summer 2020 exams and the new methods of awarding 

grades has led to a set of pupil attainment statistics that are unlike previous 
years. As a result, the DfE suggests that the 2019/20 data should not be 
directly compared to attainment data from previous years for the purposes of 
measuring changes in pupil performance. The improvements that evidently 
occurred in 2020 should be welcomed but treated with caution. 

 
4.3 Over the past few years, there have been significant changes in secondary 

school accountability. In 2016, the old GCSE headline measure of 5+ GCSEs 
or equivalent at A* - C including English and mathematics was replaced by the 
new key measures of attainment 8; progress 8; attainment in English and 
mathematics (A*-C); and the English Baccalaureate (EBacc). In 2017, there 
were further reforms removing non-examination assessments in most GCSE 
courses and increasing end of course exams. There has also been a phased 
introduction of the new grading system whereby grades A*-G were replaced by 

Page 28



grades 9-1 (with grade 9 being the highest and grade 1 being equivalent to a 
Grade G); and headline threshold attainment measures involving reformed 
English and mathematics, using a Grade 5 (strong pass) to determine the 
proportion achieving the EBacc. For accountability purposes, in 2018 EBacc 
attainment has been replaced by an EBacc Average Point Score (APS) rather 
than a threshold measure.  

 
4.4 The percentage achieving GCSE Grades 9-4 (A*-C) in English and 

mathematics in 2020 was 78.1% which was an improvement in comparison to 
last year (73.6%) and in 2018 (70.7%) and above the national average (71.2%). 
In 2020 62% achieved GCSE Grades 9-5 in English and mathematics, 
compared to 55.5% in 2019 and 49.9% nationally.  

 
4.5 For the English Baccalaureate (a measure based on a combination of 

English, mathematics, science, a language and a humanities subject), 52.1% of 
students achieved this standard in 2020, compared with 48.1% in 2019; this 
was also considerably above the national average (29.8%). In 2020, 38.1% 
achieved a strong pass, compared to 34.3% in 2019 and 21.3% nationally.  

 
4.6 Attainment 8 (a score based on points for eight main subjects) is also above 

the national average (56.1%, compared with 50.2% nationally). In 2019 the 
borough was placed 8th nationally and first in Inner London.  

 
4.7 Progress 8 is a score standardised to a national average of zero, based on the 

GCSE points that would be expected, given prior attainment at KS2 however 
the DFE has decided it was not appropriate to publish progress 8 measures in 
2020 due to the use of teacher assessed grades. Progress 8 is normally 
calculated by comparing a pupil’s actual results to a set of expected results 
produced by a model based on national averages. In 2019 the score was 0.27, 
which was considerably above national as well (0.01). By this measure, 
Hammersmith and Fulham was ranked 4th in Inner London. 

 
Key Stage 4 

 

 
LBHF National 

 
2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020 

Attainment 8 52.9 53.8 56.1 46.6 47.4 50.2 

Progress 8 0.34 0.27 N/A -0.02 0.01 N/A 

9-5 English & Maths 54.8% 55.5% 62.0% 43.5% 43.8% 49.9% 

9-4 English & Maths 70.7% 73.6% 78.1% 64.4% 65.7% 71.2% 

9-5 EBacc 32.4% 34.3% 38.1% 16.8% 17.4% 21.3% 

9-4 EBacc 41.8% 48.1% 52.1% 24.2% 25.3% 29.8% 

 
 
5. POST 16 OUTCOMES 
 
5.1 Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the summer exam series was cancelled in 

2020. Pupils scheduled to complete GCSE, vocational qualifications and A/AS 
levels received grades based on teacher predictions of what the student would 
most likely have achieved had exams gone ahead. Teacher decisions were 

Page 29



checked by school leadership teams to provide centre assessed grade or 
CAGs. Pupils received the higher of either the CAG or an Equal calculated 
grade.  

 
5.2 The cancellation of summer 2020 exams and the new methods of awarding 

grades has led to a set of pupil attainment statistics that are unlike previous 
years. As a result, the DfE suggests that the 2019/20 data should not be 
directly compared to attainment data from previous years for the purposes of 
measuring changes in student performance. 

 
5.3 The change in grade calculation has led to grade inflation nationally when 

compared to previous years at A level and GCSE. The results data published 
by JCQ show for example that, for learners in England, outcomes have 
increased significantly for both AS and A level across the grade range 
compared to 2019. There was a 14% increase in the number of ‘B’ grades and 
a 12% increase in ‘A’ grades awarded. 

 
5.4 In borough, A level performance improved with the average point score per 

entry increasing to 39.5% but this has fallen slightly below the national average. 
In 2019 A level performance was above the national average. This is also true 
for the percentage achieving high grades which increased to 34,3% (AAB) but 
fell slightly below the national average of 36.6%. Our schools may have been 
stricter with their CAGs when compared to the national picture.  

 
5.5 Key Stage data overview: 

 

 

LBHF National 

2019 2020 2019 2020 

APS per entry, best 3 34.04 39.5 32.17 40.2 

Achieving 3 A*-A grades or 
better  

11.1% 21.0% 10.2% 24.9% 

Achieving grades AAB or 
better 

18.8% 34.3% 17.5% 36.6% 

 
5.6 The A level performance report (Alps) measures the grade achieved at A level 

by comparing it to the pupils GCSE performance and using this to calculate a 
value-added score for each provider. Alps grades are from1-9 with 1 being the 
best performance. Six schools in borough use this system and the October 
2020 report shows five schools achieving a grade 2 and the other school a 
grade 4. The Alps grades have increased by 2 on 2019 showing that A level 
outcomes continue to be strong and continue the improvement achieved in 
2019. The most popular subjects with over100 candidates are biology, 
chemistry, economics, history, mathematics, psychology and English literature. 
In total 657 students completed A levels in these 6 providers in 2020. 

 
5.7 Regarding Vocational qualifications at L2, retake GCSEs and L1 there is no 

published data for 2020 until later in the year however for 2019 the GCSE 
retake outcomes in English and Maths at William Morris, who are the main 

Page 30



provider in borough for post 16 retakes, were very strong with value added 
scores for English of +0.63 and Maths +0.26.   

 
5.8 Vocational qualifications at L3 such as BTEC provide an alternative to A level 

for a small but significant number of young people studying in borough. William 
Morris and some school sixth forms provide a range of vocational courses 
including media, business, health and social care, sport, ICT, science and the 
creative arts. In 2020 from these providers 211 students received vocational 
grades at L3. The ALPs report from October 2020 measured the value added 
by students on the reformed BTECs as a grade 5 on a scale from 1-9 which 
indicate students are making progress slightly above the national average. 
BTECs have provided for middle to low prior attainers at GCSE a credible and 
challenging alternative to A levels. 

 
5.9 Priorities: Increase vocational provision including T levels across Borough at 

post 16 as an alternative to A levels, maintain and expand subject networks 
between schools to share good practice. 

 
6. DESTINATIONS 
 
6.1 The latest data regarding destinations covers the leavers in 2018 (see explore 

education statistics (16-18 destination measures) on gov.uk) and analyses their 
sustainable destinations following the completion of their two years of study. 
81% of students who reached the end of 16 to 18 study in schools and colleges 
in Hammersmith and Fulham in 2018 had a sustained education, 
apprenticeship, or employment destination in 2019. This is the same as the 
national figure but within that group 14% continued in further education or 
training and 47% progressed to higher education which are above the national 
average. 17% had sustained employment and 3% sustained an apprenticeship 
which are below the national average. This gives a snapshot for the 2018 
cohort, and it suggests more support for employment and apprenticeship 
progression is required. 

     
6.2 In Hammersmith & Fulham the trajectory over the last three years continues to 

show that the borough has a very low level of NEETS (Young people who are 
Not in Education, Employment or Training) and is within the top three London 
Boroughs. Nationally Hammersmith and Fulham are below the NEET average. 
Recent data from West London Partnership (November 2020) reports that 48 
young people excluding young offenders are NEET which is 1.3% of the 16-18 
population. This compares well to other neighbouring Boroughs where the 
average is 1.6% and nationally this figure is below the 1.8% - 2.2% of 16-18-
year olds who are NEET as reported by recent DFE data (October 2020).  

 
6.3 The number of ‘not known’ destinations is lower than in other neighbouring 

boroughs but still accounts for 19% of the population with 79.5% engaged in 
learning or training. The unknown rates have increased across West London 
when compared to November last year. This raises a possible concern which 
needs to be investigated further. 

 

Page 31



6.4 Priorities: Introduce and implement a NEET reduction plan, ensure greater 
awareness of post 16 opportunities including apprenticeships, ensure that the 
Careers Leaders network enables the sharing of good practice and supports 
schools to meet Gatsby benchmarks improving employability of YP.    

 
7. PERFORMANCE OF SPECIFIC PUPIL GROUPS October 2020 
 
7.1 In reviewing performance of schools in Hammersmith and Fulham an analysis 

is also made of the achievements of pupils in vulnerable groups. This includes 
those entitled to a free school meal (FSM), special educational needs (SEN) 
and those with English as an additional language (EAL). It also includes 
minority ethnic pupils, and those who are in the care of the local authority. 

 
7.2 In 2020 in primary schools the percentage of pupils entitled to a free meal 

(FSM, 24%) was considerably above the national average (18%) and pupils 
speaking English as an additional language (EAL, 47%) was over twice the 
national average of 21%. 74% of pupils were from an ethnic minority (MEP, 
compared with 35% nationally), and 15% were SEN (compared to 15% 
nationally). We see our diverse profile as a key strength.  

 
7.3 In secondary schools the percentage of pupils entitled to a free meal (20%) 

was higher than the national average (16%), and pupils speaking English as an 
additional language (34%) was over twice the national average of 17%. 75% of 
pupils were from an ethnic minority (compared with 34% nationally), and 12% 
were SEN (compared to 13% nationally). 

 
 

 
 
8. ATTENDANCE 
 
8.1 Attendance data for 2018-19 shows that attendance is slightly above national 

for both primary and secondary schools. Primary: 96.0% (National 95.7%) 
Secondary 95.0% (National: 94.4%). At secondary level attendance is 0.1% 

24% 

47% 

74% 

15% 
20% 

34% 

75% 

12% 
18% 21% 

35% 

15% 16% 17% 

34% 

13% 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

FSM EAL MEP SEN FSM EAL MEP SEN

Primary Secondary

Pupil rolls by characteristics as of January 2020 

Hammersmith & Fulham National

Page 32



below the Inner London figure of 95.1%. Attendance data is not yet available 
for 2019-20. It is accepted that there is work to do about improving absence 
rates overall and this is a standing item on secondary heads agendas.  

 
9. OFSTED INSPECTION OUTCOMES  
 
9.1 The percentage of schools in Hammersmith and Fulham which are rated 

outstanding or good by Ofsted inspectors to date stands at 95%, with 46% 
outstanding. This is above the national average (86% and 21% respectively). 

 

2020 OFSTED 
Outcomes 
(All state schools) 

National 
(31 Aug 20) 

Hammersmith and 
Fulham (31 Aug 20) 

Outstanding/Good 86% 95% (57/60 schools) 

Outstanding 19% 45% (27) 

Good 67% 50% (30) 

Requiring Improvement  10% 5% (3) 

Inadequate  4% N/A 

 
 
10. SCHOOL EFFECTIVENESS PRIORITIES  
 
10.1 To coordinate and provide support to schools in managing their response to 

the COVID19 pandemic 

10.2 To support schools in ensuring the health and wellbeing of pupils and staff 

10.3 To further develop and enhance the learning partnership 

10.4 To promote climate change education and environmental studies including 
outdoor learning opportunities 

10.5 To enhance the training offer to school staff and governors 

10.6 To support the recovery curriculum and the development of a high-quality 
blended learning offer by schools 

10.7 To prepare and support all schools in achieving ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ in an 
Ofsted inspection 

10.8 To support inclusion so schools are prepared and equipped to meet a wide 
range of needs 

10.9 To support the review of outreach services to ensure best practice and value 

10.10 To support secondary schools in establishing progression pathways and 
career opportunities for young people 

10.11 To oversee the efficient and effective administration of the key stage 
assessments 

Page 33



  

Page 34



APPENDIX A – Assessment and Reporting Arrangements – Summer 2021 

Assessment and Reporting Arrangements Summer 2021 
 
EYFS, KS1 and KS2 
The DfE has cancelled all formal assessments for EYFS, KS1 and KS2 for summer 
2021. However, schools have a statutory requirement to produce end of year reports 
for parents on their child’s progress and attainment, and to aid transition between 
primary and secondary school.  
 
The DfE strongly urges schools to use past SATs papers and the Foundation Stage 
profile to assist teachers in making robust assessments. At both KS1 and g and 
inform assessments. There is no requirement for schools to submit results. KS2 
schools can opt to use past SATs papers to identify any gaps in pupils’ learning 
 
In order to assist schools in making robust assessments, the Local Authority is 
running a series of meetings and workshops for the Early Years, KS1 and KS2 
teachers. 
 
GCSE and A-Levels 
The Government decided that due to the disruptions to learning caused by the 
pandemic that exams in 2021 cannot be held in a way which is fair. In place of 
exams the government has proposed that a student’s grade in a subject will be 
based on their teacher’s assessment of the standard at which they are performing. 
 
Grades for A levels and GCSE subjects will be decided by the subject teachers. 
They will base the grades for each student on the work completed during the whole 
course. This can include coursework and mock exams as well as essays and tests 
completed in class. Teachers may choose to set short assessments set by the exam 
boards, but these will not take place under formal exam conditions. Teachers will 
have until June 18th to submit grades. Btec students will also receive teacher-
assessed grades this year. 
 
Students should continue to work on non-exam assessments such as coursework 
which will contribute to the overall grade however, exam boards will not be required 
to moderate it. In addition, Exam boards will provide a package of support materials 
to include questions, mark schemes and exemplar materials. Teachers will be able 
to use the support materials to aid grading however, the use of these materials is not 
compulsory. 
 
School leaders will be required to have a process for checking that grade 
judgements are not unduly harsh or lenient. Exam boards will put in place 
arrangements to check each centre’s QA process and review the evidence for one or 
more subjects in a random sample of centres. The headteacher will be required to 
submit a declaration that the requirements for internal quality assurance have been 
met. Results days will be on 10 August for AS and A level, and 12 August for GCSE 
results. 

 

Page 35



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 
 
LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN 
AND CARE LEAVERS ANNUAL 
REPORT 2019-2020 
 

 

 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 7



 

2 
 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

1.1 This report highlights the significant responsibilities the local authority has in relation 

to our Looked After Children and Care Leavers, and how we discharge these. It 

provides an overview of the services provided to  Looked After Children and Care 

Leavers and their progress in Hammersmith and Fulham 

 

1.2 The number of Looked After Children in the UK has increased nationally by 2.5% 

since 2019 to 80,080 as at 31st March 2020. During the same period Looked After 

numbers in Hammersmith and Fulham have increased by 2.9% from 245 to 252. 

However, this is explained by an increased proportion of Unaccompanied Asylum 

Seeking Children (UASC) where we saw a 45% increase. 

 

1.3  The majority of our Looked After Children are placed in foster care , and in placement 

show improvements in health and their educational attainment.  

 
2. INTRODUCTION  

 

2.1 In this report, the term Looked After Children refers to those children for whom the 

Council has assumed Parental Responsibility through a Care Order, or by an 

agreement with their parent(s) (s20 Children Act 1989) or due to being  an 

Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children. 

 

2.2 Children in Care range in age from birth to 17yrs 11months, The Council also has a 

duty and responsibility to those young people who leave care at the age of 18 years, 

until they reach the age of 25. This requirement to provide support until the age of 25 

was introduced by the Children and Social Work Act 2017. Previously our 

responsibility ended at the age of 21 for those Care Leavers who were not in 

education. 

 

2.3 The majority of Looked After Children need alternative care and accommodation due 

to the inability of their primary care giver to offer safe and adequate care within the 

family home. Some Looked After Children return to their parent(s) or extended family 

members and do not require long term services or interventions; while some require 

permanent placements: achieved through adoption, special guardianship, or long-

term fostering. For a small minority permanence cannot be achieved and they require 

long term residential or semi-independent accommodation.  

 

2.4 In September 2019, Ofsted undertook an inspection of Children’s social care services 

in Hammersmith and Fulham and judged the experiences and progress of children in 

care and care leavers to be Good. ‘Social workers build strong relationships with 

children in care. Workers visit children regularly, using the embedded practice model 

to get to know the child and to undertake sensitive direct work. This helps to ensure 

that all of their needs, including their health needs, are well considered.’ (Ofsted 

inspection report, September 2019. 

 

Page 37



 

3 
 

3. CORPORATE PARENTING 

3.1 Corporate Parenting refers to the collective responsibility of the Council to provide the 

best care and protection for children and young people who are ‘looked after’, that is, 

who are in public care. Effective corporate parenting requires the commitment from 

all Council employees and elected Members and an authority wide approach.  These 

responsibilities for Local Authorities were first laid out in the Children Act 1989, the 

Children Act 2004 and reinforced in the Children and Young People’s Act 2008 and 

most recently in the Children and Social Work Act 2017. The most recent legislation 

sets out seven Corporate Parenting principles that all Councils must adhere to for 

children in care and care leavers to ensure that their needs are met, and life chances 

promoted. All local authorities in England must, in carrying out functions in relation to 

Looked After Children, have regard to the need: 

▪ to act in the best interests, and promote the physical and mental health and 

well-being, of those children and young people; 

▪ to encourage those children and young people to express their views, wishes 

and feelings; 

▪ to take into account the views, wishes and feelings of those children and 

young people; 

▪ to help those children and young people gain access to, and make the best 

use of, services provided by the local authority and its relevant partners; 

▪ to promote high aspirations, and seek to secure the best outcomes, for those 

children and young people; 

▪ for those children and young people to be safe, and for stability in their home 

lives, relationships and education or work; 

▪ to prepare those children and young people for adulthood and independent 

living.  

 

3.2 Councillors have a responsibility to act as a good ‘Corporate Parent’ for the children 

looked after by the Council and need to be concerned about that child as if they were 

their own. This concern should encompass the child’s safety, education, health and 

welfare, participation, and achievements.  

 

3.3 Hammersmith and Fulham have an active and vibrant Corporate Parenting Board 

and Steering Group. The Board is well attended by young people, elected members 

and council officers. Issues raised at the meeting by young people have set the 

agenda for service improvements and we have developed services through the work 

of the Board with 'you said we did’. Young people wanted Corporate Parenting 

Meetings to be held during school, and university holidays and to be held during the 

day, so that they could fully participate. The Corporate Parenting Board provides 

oversight of the progress of the Council’s Looked After Children and Care Leavers 

and has a key role in monitoring and challenging how the Council discharges its 

Corporate Parenting responsibilities. 

 

3.4 The CEPAC Scrutiny Committee contributes to monitoring the quality and 

effectiveness of services, via the scrutiny of this annual report on services and 

outcomes for Looked After Children and Care Leavers. A report on the work of the 

Fostering and Adoption Service is also presented annually.  Other relevant 

performance indicators are reported regularly to the Lead Member for Children’s 

Services at the twice monthly Cabinet Members Briefing.  

 

Page 38



 

4 
 

4. PROFILE OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS 

 

 

4.1 The number of Looked After Children in Hammersmith and Fulham increased from 

204 in March 2014, to 252 in March 2020. However, there was only a small increase 

in citizen children entering care during this period, from 195 to 201. During the same 

period the number of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children increased from 9 to 

51. As of March 2020, Hammersmith and Fulham has had the largest number of 

UASCs we have ever looked after and this is also 3% above our statistical 

neighbours.  

4.1 Between 2019 and 2020 the number of Looked After Children as a proportion of the 

population aged under 18 in Hammersmith and Fulham has increased from 66 to 68 

per 10,000 of the population. This is higher than the statistical neighbour average of 

60 per 10,000, Inner London of 57 but in line with the England rate of 67.  

 

4.2 The Council work extensively with families and partners to ensure that wherever 

possible families are supported to safely care for their children at home. Children 

come into care when remaining at home would continue to expose them to significant 

risks of harm. We have services and systems including Family Assist and Systemic 

Practitioners who support children to remain at home. We strive to ensure that 

children only enter care , when all alternatives have been fully explored and the 

safeguarding risks are assessed as too high for them to remain at home. Wherever 

possible we try to place children with a member of their extended family.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 

5 
 

  

 

  

 

   

Page 40



 

6 
 

4.3 The age profile of Looked After Children shows that the proportion aged over 16 in 

2019-20 was 41.3%,  an increase from 36% in 2018-19, which is higher than the 

national rate of 24% and higher than London rate of 39%. This is explained by our 

higher proportion of UASC, the majority of whom became looked from the age of 16. .  

 

Age profile of Looked After Children as at 31st March 2020 

AGE AT 31 MARCH 2020 BOYS GIRLS Total % 

Under 1 year  5 7 12 4.8% 

Age 1 - 4 years  14 14 28 11.1% 

Age 5 - 9 years 24 12 36 14.3% 

Age 10 - 15 years 39 33 72 28.6% 

Age 16 - 17 years: 78 26 104 41.3% 

TOTAL 160 92 252 100% 

 

4.4 At 31st March 2020,15.9% of children in care were aged under 5 years compared with 

13% at the same point in 2019.  This is a marginal increase that we continue to 

monitor and review.  

 

4.5 The table below provides a breakdown of the reasons for new care episodes for 14-

17-year olds.  

 

Entry to care status Number of 

young 

people 

aged 14 to 

17 years 

(2016-17) 

% Number of 

young 

people 

aged 14 to 

17 years 

(2017-18) 

% Number of 

young 

people 

aged 14 to 

17 years 

(2018-19) 

% Number 

of young 

people 

aged 14 

to 17 

years 

(2019-20) 

% 

Remand 6 11% 4 6% 9 15% 3 8% 

Respite 1 2% 6 9% 0 0% 0  

Safeguarding 31 58% 31 45% 20 34% 13 33% 

UASC 15 28% 27 40% 30 51% 23 59% 

Total entries to care 

during 2016-20 aged 14 to 

17 years 

53 

  

68  59  39  

 

4.6 Children identified as Black and Minority Ethnic background accounted for 40% of 

Looked After Children in 2019-20. This is in line with Inner London which is also at 

40% and considerably higher than England Average of 7%. .Children and young 

people from minority ethnic groups account for 32% of all children living in 

Hammersmith and Fulham which means a higher proportion enter care. The Council 

continues to respond to the needs of BAME children by seeking to recruit a diverse 

Page 41



 

7 
 

range of foster carers which reflect the diversity of the local population, and through 

placing children with kinship carers when appropriate. Work is being undertaken  

across Children’s Services, to address disproportionality in service delivery which 

may impact on these higher numbers of BAME children requiring care.  

 

5. UNACCOMPANIED ASYLUM-SEEKING CHILDREN (UASC) 

 

5.1 On 1st July 2016 the Home Office launched the National Transfer Scheme (NTS), a 

new voluntary transfer arrangement between local authorities for the care of 

unaccompanied children who arrive in the UK and claim asylum. The scheme has an 

agreement that local authorities will be expected to take up to 0.07% of their child 

population. The aim of the scheme is that any new UASC entering England and Wales 

are distributed more evenly amongst local authorities rather than primarily 

concentrating within London and the South East by virtue of where they enter the 

country and seek asylum. In 2019 Hammersmith and Fulham agreed to raise their 

threshold to 0.08% to relieve pressure across London boroughs. As a result, threshold 

number rose from 25 to 28 UASC. We have consistently remained above the threshold 

and therefore have only offered two placements via the NTS.  

 

5.2 In addition, in 2016, Hammersmith and Fulham gave a commitment to caring for a 

higher number of UASC who would be entering the UK under the Dubs Amendment. 

To date, 26 children have been accommodated by the Local Authority under this 

scheme. 14 arrived from France in late 2016 and early 2017 and one arrived from 

Greece. A further 11 children arrived in 2019. In 2016 Hammersmith and Fulham social 

work staff proactively visited the camps in Calais to assist with the assessment of 

children there and to support their transfer to the UK.  

Number of UASC who entered care between 2016-18, by country of origin 

5.3 There is notable consistency in the age of UASC on arrival with majority of the total 

current UASC population (28 of 33, 85%) aged between 14-17 years at 31st March 

2020. The highest proportion of UASCs now originate from Eritrea.  

Country of 
origin 

Number 
of 

young 
people 
(16/17) 

% 

Number 
of 

young 
people 
(17/18) 

% 

Number 
of 

young 
people 
(18/19) 

% 

Number 
of 

young 
people 
(19/20) 

% 

Afghanistan 8 32% 1 5% 0 0% 4 13% 

Albania 2 8% 4 19% 1 3% 1 3% 

Armenia 1 4% 1 5% 0 0% 0 0% 

Algeria 1 4% 1 5% 1 3% 0 0% 

Egypt 1 4% 1 5% 0 0% 0 0% 

Eritrea 3 12% 3 14% 17 59% 15 48% 

Ethiopia 1 4% 1 5% 4 14% 0 0% 

Iran 2 8% 4 19% 0 0% 2 6% 

Pakistan 1 4% 1 5% 0 0% 2 6% 

Sudan 4 16% 3 14% 5 17% 7 23% 

Syria 1 4% 1 5% 1 3% 0 0% 

 

Page 42



 

8 
 

5.4 Only five UASC children becoming looked after in the last 24 months were aged 15 

and younger (which means that just under 5% were under 16 years old). Given these 

age trends, the UASC population have a significant bearing on the Council’s care 

leaver numbers. At 31st March 2020, 85 of 264 (32%) of Council’s care leavers were 

former UASCs.  

 

5.5 As part of the Care Leaver offer the Council supports our young people to develop 

their independent living skills and supports them to achieve their own property and 

tenancy. However, delays in obtaining legal status impacts on the ability of some of 

our UASC to hold their own tenancies at the point they are ready to. In the main 

UASC continue to be provided with semi-independent accommodation until their 

immigration status is resolved.  

 

5.6 SUPPORT FOR UASC  

A range of support and intervention is offered to our UASC young people including in 

the following areas 

• Immigration and settlement 
We support our UASC to make their asylum application at the Home Office. Social 

workers, key workers or foster carers accompany the young people to all interviews 

with solicitors and immigration officials, providing them with continuous support 

during their asylum application, and navigating complex systems.  We refer and 

support young to the Red Cross Tracing Services to find lost missing family 

members.  

• Housing and Financial support  
We accommodate young people according to their needs and vulnerability, either 

with a foster family or in semi-independent accommodation. We provide the young 

people in semi-independent accommodation with a weekly allowance to pay for their 

food and fares if they are in education. We also support the young people to open a 

bank account.  Further we support the young people living in semi-independent 

accommodation with a clothing allowance which is paid three times a year.  

• Health  
We support the young people  to access health services, such as their local GP, 

migrant health clinic, opticians and dentist.  With the agreement of the young people 

we refer them to the Looked After Nurse and the Children Adolescent Mental Health 

Services (CAMHS).  

• Life skills, Education & Employment 
Social workers along with their carers and key workers work with young people to 

develop their independent life skills such as cooking, cleaning, budgeting and 

maintaining a healthy lifestyle.   The Virtual school teacher, social worker, tutor and 

young people meet three times a year to discuss their progress and devise targets 

and strategies to further their educational development. We organise regular 3-way 

meetings, to discuss their progress and address any issues of concern.  The Virtual 

School support the young people to enrol at a school or college. The Virtual school 

organise 10 hours of ESOL tuition with  young people who have no English skills. If 

deemed necessary, we organise one to one tuition for the young people in individual 

subjects.  We provide the young people with self-study resources that support 

independent learning. For young people interested in accessing further educational 

Page 43



 

9 
 

provision, we refer them to organisations such as CARAS, the British Red Cross 

Young Refugee Service, the Refugee Council. We refer interested young people to 

work placement opportunities such as working at Otto Restaurant in the centre of 

London. 

• Social skills, Community, and empowerment  
We encourage young people to participate in forums and meetings such as the child 

in care council in which they can voice their opinions and views about the service the 

Local Authority is providing.  We refer interested young people to organisations which 

provide them with enrichment opportunities such as the Build your Bike Programme 

or Phosphoros Theatre.  We refer young people who are artistically minded to 

Mentoring Programmes with organisations such as Arts Emergency.  We support and 

provide funding for YPs to join a gym or join their local football club such as Lambeth 

Tigers FC or Kensington Dragons FC.  In collaboration with Fulham FC Foundation 

and Chelsea FC Foundation we organise a weekly football session which takes place 

at Eel Brook Common. We organise trips for the young people to football matches 

and theatre performances.  

In June 2019 our UASC Champion facilitated with Cllr Harvey a refugee day for 

UASCS of all ages.  This was a really positive social gathering for them, their carers 

and their care staff.   They engaged in various activities such as photo booths, henna 

hand painting etc.  Some of the older UASC’s got up and told positive stories about 

their time in care.  We had guest speakers such as Lord Dubs, and Fulham FC 

foundation.  

 

Hammersmith and Fulham, in partnership with the Fulham FC Foundation and the 

Chelsea FC   Foundation, runs weekly football training sessions for their 

unaccompanied refugee children. 

On 5th March 2020 Gary Lineker joined refugee campaigner Lord Alf Dubs and Cllr 

Stephen Cowan, , in a special football training session for Hammersmith and 

Fulham’s unaccompanied refugee children at Craven Cottage. Although it was a wet 

and cold evening the young people and adults supporting had a wonderful night. The 

young people ran out of the tunnel to music and applause and took great pleasure in 

Page 44



 

10 
 

showing off their football skills to the audience. Definitely an evening that won’t be 

quickly forgotten. 

 

6. PLACEMENT STABILITY  

 

6.1 Children who are subject to frequent placement moves are less able to form 

positive attachments with carers which make them more vulnerable to unsafe 

relationships from other adults or their peer group.  9% of our children in care had 

three or more placements last year. This is better than the National picture where 

11% experienced three or more moves over the same period.  

 

6.2 The number of placement moves that children experience is carefully monitored to 

ensure plans are adapted to make placements more resilient when required and that 

children and carers are given tailored support to address individual needs. Most 

children and young people are living with foster carers. The Fostering Service 

continues to train and support foster carers in secure base and nonviolence 

resistance techniques, to enable carers to offer care for vulnerable young people with 

complex needs.  

 

Percentage of children with three or more placements 

 

 2013-
14 

2014-
15 

2015-
16 

2016-
17 

2017-
18 

2018-
19 

2019-
20 

LBHF 19% 9% 14% 8% 11% 9% 9% 

England 12% 10% 10% 10% 11% 11% 11% 

 

7. PLACEMENT  

 

7.1 For some young people foster care does not meet their needs. As of 31st March 

2020, 16 (6.3%) of Looked After Children were placed in residential care or special 

educational boarding schools. This is the same as last year. There were 28 children 

in connected carers placements (connected person is defined as a ‘relative, friend or 

other person connected with a child’) and 141 children placed with foster carers. The 

number of adoptions in Hammersmith and Fulham remains low, three were adopted 

as of 31st March 2020 and two in 2019. This reflects a continued national trend in 

reduction in children being placed for adoption during the same period. 

 

7.2 The Council has a commitment to ensure that children and young people will only be 

placed in resources with an Ofsted inspection judgement of Good or Outstanding. As 

at 31st March 2020, 92% of children were in provisions that were judged as 

Outstanding or Good by Ofsted. No children were placed in Inadequate placements. 

 

7.3 16.2% of our children are placed at a distance of 20 miles plus from Hammersmith 

and Fulham. This is below the average for our statistical neighbours at 17.9% but 

higher than national at 15%. The Council has actively sought to reduce the number of 

children placed outside London where appropriate however the limited availability of 

foster placements in Inner London means that many children need to be placed in 

other local authority areas, although usually these are within London. The cohort of 

Page 45



 

11 
 

children living outside of London includes children who are placed in special 

educational boarding schools or specialist residential care; those placed with 

extended family members or adopters; and those placed at a distance to effectively 

safeguard them, such as young people identified to be at risk due to gang affiliation 

or criminal and child sexual exploitation. 

 

 

7.4 Hammersmith and Fulham place all Looked After Children aged 16 and under in 

registered placements. At the time of reporting there are no children in unregistered 

placements. Some of our 16 and 17 year olds require support to develop 

independence skills rather than care and as such are placed in semi-independent 

provision which is unregulated. The majority of this provision is within Hammersmith 

and Fulham as part of a block contract arrangement with Centrepoint. The suitability 

of these arrangements are carefully assessed by the allocated social workers under 

the supervision of their team Managers and with the independent challenge from their 

IRO. The Head of Service reviews these arrangements on a quarterly basis. 

 

7.5 During this reporting period Hammersmith and Fulham had no children placed in 

secure accommodation under welfare grounds.  

 

Percentage of children placed in foster placements at 31st March 2018 

 

 % of 

children 

placed in 

foster 

placements 

(16/17) 

% of 

children 

placed in 

foster 

placements 

(17/18) 

% of 

children 

placed in 

foster 

placements 

(18/19) 

% of children placed 

in foster placements 

(19/20) 

England 75% 73% 72% 72% 

London 75% 72% 70% 71% 

Hammersmith and 

Fulham 

73% 72% 69% 67% 

 

8. PERMANENCE 

 

8.1 Achieving early permanence through Adoption or Special Guardianship is extremely 

important for the small number of children who cannot safely live with their birth 

parents. In 2019 following the regionalisation of adoption the West London Regional 

Adoption Agency known as Adopt London West was created in a partnership 

between the boroughs of Brent, Ealing, Hounslow and Hammersmith and Fulham.  

 

8.2 Three children, between the ages of eight months and five years, were adopted last 

year. Adoption scorecard performance indicators were met in all cases except the 

indicator for time of entry into care and placement for one child. The Adoption 

Scorecard is data published by the government which shows the length of time taken 

to place children in need of adoption. This indicator was exceeded by two months 

because the transition to the first prospective adoptive home fell through during 

introductions. We reviewed the case to understand the reasons for the breakdown 

and implemented the learning. Our scorecard performance for 2018/19 was impacted 

Page 46



 

12 
 

by the adoption of two older children, 10 and 17 years, by their foster carers. This 

was a good outcome for the children. 

 

8.3 We had 22 Special Guardianship orders, and four child arrangement orders last year 

(2019/20).   There is good collaboration between Adopt London West and operational 

services. The agency organises training for practitioners and managers and is 

represented at the Permanency Tracker Panel and Permanence Board meetings.  

 

8.4 We have identified permanence and particularly the timeliness of formalising long-

term fostering plans for children as a priority area for improvement. We have 

redesigned the Permanency Tracker Panel, chaired by the head of Looked After 

Children and Care Leavers services, and Permanence Board, chaired by the Director 

of Family Services, to ensure stronger operational and senior leader oversight. 

 

9. LAC ASSIST SERVICE 

9.1 The LAC Assist service aims to increase placement stability, support a reduction in 

increased placement costs, increase opportunities to reunify children with their 

families when it is safe to do so, increase successful transition to independence, 

sustain lower cost placements and reduce tenancy breakdown. LAC Assist priorities 

include working with children and young people who have experienced placement 

breakdowns or are at risk of placement breakdowns, those in or at risk of moving to 

high cost placements, children who could potentially be rehabilitated back to their 

family’s care and sustaining this, and care leavers who are not making sufficient 

progress to enable them to move to independent living in final stage accommodation.  

9.2 The team provides intensive support which mirrors that provided by the Family Assist 

model which was highly praised by Ofsted inspectors. The service commenced in 

April 2017 and has so far achieved significant placement and accommodation 

stability, and reduction in placement cost. 

 

10. HEALTH OUTCOMES  

 

10.1 Local authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that health assessments are carried 

out for every Looked After Child in their care. These health assessment focus on the 

holistic health and wellbeing for each child. For Children under five years the review 

health assessments are undertaken every six months and for those five plus they are 

undertaken annually. These are completed predominately by the designated and 

named LAC paediatrician, 91% of these were completed in times frame although 

100% have been achieved. This represents a marginal drop in timeliness from 92.1% 

in 2019.  

 

10.2 Two Nurses are co-located with the LAC and Care Leavers services. They are both 

Specialist Public Health Nurses and are referred as the LAC Nurses, one being the 

Named Nurse and One being the Specialist Nurse. The co-location enables ongoing 

dialogue between the allocated social worker and LAC Nurse in relation to children, 

concerns, and observations. 

 

10.3 Due to the nature of their experiences prior to and whilst looked after, many children 

in care have poor mental health. This may be in the form of significant emotional, 

Page 47



 

13 
 

psychological, or behavioural difficulties. Challenges faced for this cohort are that 

local CAMHS provisions end their involvement, if a child moves out of borough. 

These children may be experiencing placement moves caused by behavioural issues 

and yet who are often the most emotionally vulnerable children who require 

therapeutic services. Additionally, a number of Care Leavers do not meet the higher 

thresholds for Adult Mental Health Services but continue to have unresolved 

emotional difficulties requiring input. 

 

10.4 A multi-disciplinary borough-based LAC Child and Adolescent Mental Health 

Services (LAC CAMHS) team, that is co-located with the Council’s Looked After 

Children’s Teams, offers an extensive range of support services for all levels of 

mental health needs in a variety of settings. They can work with children placed 

outside the borough, and if a placement move or breakdown result in them moving 

between Clinical Commissioning Group area, they assist in identifying local therapy 

services that can be commissioned. 

 

10.5 There is also the Clinical Team consisting of systemic psychotherapists and clinical 

psychologists who offer clinical consultations to social workers and the professional 

network around the child. The team offer reflective case discussions to the LAC and 

Care leavers teams, facilitation of away-days, systemic training and workshops and 

direct clinical work with children, young people and families and their social workers 

and/or parent/carers. 

 

 

11. EDUCATIONAL OUTCOMES  

 

11.1 Education that encourages high aspirations, positive experiences, and individual 

achievement, with minimal disruption, is central to improving immediate and long-

term outcomes for Looked After Children and Care Leavers. Looked After Children 

and Care Leavers are more likely to face significant barriers to education and that a 

renewed priority for young people to improve the educational achievement. Often 

children and young people will enter care having missed significant periods of 

education or having unidentified learning needs that have impacted on their 

educational progress.  

 

11.2 The Virtual School maintains accurate and up to date information about how Looked 

After Children and Care Leavers are progressing in education and takes urgent and 

individual action when they are not achieving well.  

 

11.3 Historically Hammersmith’s Looked after Children have achieved good outcomes at 

the end of Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4.  

 

11.4 Detailed analysis of each cohort of pupils in 2020 indicates Hammersmith’s Looked 

after Children and Care Leavers continue to achieve and make good progress in 

most areas.  In light of the above context attention should be paid to the individual 

story and progress each child/young person makes rather looking at the headline 

outcomes. 

 

Progress and attainment at Key Stage 1 (There were 3 pupils in the reporting cohort.) 

Page 48



 

14 
 

 

11.6 There were five additional young people who completed KS1 this year but who have 

not been looked after for a full 12 months; all five are currently below/working 

towards the expected standards. Two of these children are currently being assessed 

for an Education, Health Care Plan and the other three children have additional 

social and emotional needs and are being supported through CAMHS and pupil 

premium funded therapeutic interventions. 

 

Progress and attainment at Key Stage 2 (There were 3 pupils in the reporting cohort) 

KS2  New 

expected 

standard in 

reading 

New expected 

standard in 

GPS 

New 

expected 

standard 

in writing 

New 

expected 

standard in 

math 

New 

expected 

standard in 

RWM 

2020 LBHF 

LAC 3 pupils 
67% 67% 67% 100% 67% 

2019 LBHF 

LAC 8 pupils 
87.5% 87.5% 75% 87.5% 75% 

National 

LAC (2019) 
49% 53% 51% 52% 36% 

 

11.7 The small number of pupils within the reporting cohort makes the percentages an 

unreliable measure. One pupil did not meet the expected standards in English and is 

working towards this with the support of targeted additional tuition. There was one 

additional young person who completed KS2 this year but who has not been looked 

after for a full 12 months, she met the expected standard in math and is working 

towards the others at the expected rate of progress.  

 

11.8 Due to the impact of COVID and cancellation of SATs testing the DfE do not require 

schools to report on end of Key Stage results for KS1/2. The results shown above 

have been taken from spring term teacher assessment data and it is important to 

note that these will not provide a reliable comparison for future years or individual 

progress measures until we are able to analyse the impact of COVID on educational 

progress. 

 

Progress and attainment at Key Stage 4  

KS1 Expected 

standard 

Reading 

Expected 

standard Writing 

Expected 

standard Maths 

Expected 

standard in all 

areas 

2020 LBHF LAC 

3 pupils 
100% 100% 100% 100% 

2019 LBHF LAC 

5 pupils 
80% 80% 80% 80% 

National LAC 

(2019) 
52% 43% 49% N/A 

Page 49



 

15 
 

 English and Mathematics 

GCSE (Grade 5 and above) 

English and 

mathematics 

GCSE (Grade 4 

and above) 

5+ GCSE 9-5 

including English 

and maths 

2020 LBHF 

LAC – 20 

Pupils 

25% 40% 25% 

2019 LBHF 

LAC– 21 

Pupils 

0% 

 

5% 0% 

National LAC 

(2019) 
7.2% 

 
 

 

11.9 Analysis of the 2019/20 GCSE results show significant improvement from the 

previous year where no pupils achieved 5+ GCSE grades 9-4 including English and 

Maths. There were 23 pupils in the reporting cohort for 2019/20, however two of 

these young people have been missing for over a year and another young person 

was entered into Y10 so these have been removed from the cohort leaving 20 pupils. 

Of those that did not achieve a pass in English and mathematics this year six pupils 

are unaccompanied asylum seeking children who successfully completed ESOL 

accreditation and one young person has an EHCP and received a package of 

bespoke tuition for the majority of last year, SEN are supporting consultations with 

multiple provisions to best meet her needs. 

 

11.10 National benchmarking data for 2019 shows that 7.2% of Looked After pupils achieve 

grade 5 and above in English and mathematics GCSE (the results for 2020 will not 

be released until March 2021). 25% of children looked after by Hammersmith and 

Fulham achieved Grade 5 and above in English and mathematics this year. Although 

grade 5 is recognised as the benchmark grade, grade 4 represents a pass and 

means that students are no longer required to study the subject post 16, in total 40% 

of children looked after achieved grade 4 or above in English and mathematics 

GCSE this year. 

 

11.11 This has been an unprecedented year for those in Y11 and taking GCSEs, due to 

COVID no exams were taken, and results were based on teacher assessment. It is 

expected that if exams had been taken there would be a difference in results as 

some young people perform better/worse in exam conditions. Comparison of tracked 

and predicted grades throughout the current year would indicate that some of the 

mathematics GCSE results at grade 5 and above are higher than we would have 

anticipated for at least four of the Y11 pupils. Initial anecdotes suggest that other 

London Virtual Schools have also identified this trend. 

 

Progress and attainment at Key Stage 5 (There were 26 pupils in the reporting cohort.) 

11.12 There were three pupils attending 6th form college. Two pupils successfully 

completing Extended L3 Diplomas and 1 pupil following an A Level pathway in Y13 

during the 2019/20 academic year. This young person achieved excellent results at 

GCSE level but really struggled with the transition to A Level, although they made 

significant progress following mock exams the teacher assessment grades used to 

calculate the awarded grades were disappointing (D,E,E) and did not meet the 

Page 50



 

16 
 

conditional university offers. With significant intervention from the network the pupil 

was able to secure a foundation year place at an alternative University that will 

enable them to progress into their desired area of study next year. 

 

11.13 Eight pupils attended Further Education Colleges, five pupils achieving ESOL 

accreditation and three completing L1/2 vocational qualifications. One pupil attends a 

special day school and achieved vocational qualifications and L2 Functional Skills 

English and maths. 

 

11.14 12 pupils were NEET at the end of the academic year. 10 of these pupils have strong 

links with gang affiliation, YOS involvement (seven having spent periods of time on 

remand). Only two of these pupils have been looked after for a period of more than 

three years, highlighting the challenges of reengaging late entrants to care into 

education or training. All of these young people are having intensive support to 

overcome barriers with five enrolling on training/vocational courses in September. 

One pupil was on remand. 

University – results and progression 

11.15 Eight Care Leavers completed degrees this year, two achieving first class honours, 

three achieving second class (upper division) and three achieving second class 

(lower division). 7 Care Leavers started their first year of University in September and 

one Care Leaver has returned to HW following a year out. 31 Care Leavers (12%) 

are currently studying for their chosen degrees in a wide range of subjects including 

film, zoology, Law, criminology, politics, social care and science. 

 

 Attendance and Exclusions 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Average attendance R-11 94% 93% 93% 92% 

Number with one or more fixed term 

exclusion 
12 6 21 11 

Number with permanent exclusion 0 0 0 0 

 

11.16 The attendance figures for 2019/20 shows sustained efforts to ensure the attendance 

of our young people.  This reflects the work of all professionals in ensuring regular 

attendance at school for all pupils. To ensure that real time, accurate attendance data 

is available to Virtual School Teachers at all times we have issued a new attendance 

monitoring contract which will enable a greater level of early intervention into 

absences and reduce absence figures. 

 

11.17 There were no permanent exclusions in 2019/20 and a significant reduction in fixed 

term exclusions from the previous year. There is still significant work to be done in 

reducing this further and the impact of COVID on school attendance needs to be 

factored into the figures. The Virtual School have again contracted 36 days of support 

from the Hammersmith and Fulham Educational Psychology Service to offer bespoke 

assessment, consultation and advice where we identify concerns about the behaviour 

or progress of child in school to further build on the work in the last academic year. In 

Page 51



 

17 
 

addition, we have consulted with Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSL) in 

Hammersmith and Fulham Schools and agreed to join the DSL and Designated 

Teacher networks together. DSLs often carry out both roles and joining these 

networks will support a more holistic understanding of children’s needs in our 

schools. 

 

12. SAFETY 

 

12.1 Looked After Children are at greater risk of going missing than their peers due 

to their traumatic life experiences and are therefore vulnerable to exploitation.     

Children with frequent placement moves, more fragile attachments and late care 

entrants are more likely to go missing and this behaviour in turn impacts upon the 

stability of any new placements. 

 

12.2 We track missing incidents carefully and seek to skilfully assess and address  

causal factors into why young people go missing. The majority were for short periods 

overnight rather than for longer periods where there is evidence of them experiencing 

significant harm. A monitoring and tracking system is in place that provides high 

levels of scrutiny, ensures management oversight and that missing children are 

visited and interviewed in order to address any potential safeguarding concerns 

children may be encountering either within or outside their placement. Practice has 

specifically developed in this area, which has been enhanced by the continued 

appointment of a Missing Person’s Co-ordinator who offers advice, further scrutiny, 

and the development of strategies to reduce risks with front line practitioners. 

 

12.3 We have a number of monitoring and practice systems in place to identify those 

assessed to be at risk of exploitation and provide comprehensive support package to 

ensure that risks are reduced. This includes the monthly multi-agency Safeguarding 

Adolescents at Risk Panel meetings chaired by the Heads of Safeguarding and 

Youth Offending and with active contributions from the police, Education, Health, 

Community Safety and voluntary sector partners. A shared risk assessment tool is 

utilised and informs recommendations, interventions and disruption activity. The 

Missing Children’s Coordinator and Exploitation lead hold regular surgeries with 

frontline practitioners and are actively involved in multi-agency strategy meetings.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

18 
 

 

13.  ENGAGEMENT AND PARTICIPATION  

 

 

 
 

13.1 Hammersmith and Fulham offer an extensive programme of participatory activities for 

Looked After Children and Care Leavers, providing them with opportunities to 

participate and engage with the service. This programme includes a variety of 

groups, consultation events and projects. In doing so, it is recognised that the 

children and young people we work with want to participate in different ways and in 

varying degrees. Some young people want direct involvement in consultation and 

decision making whilst others might want to attend a group or activity. This means 

that we have a core group of looked after children and care leavers that frequently 

participate within all aspects of the programme and more specific opportunities that 

attract many of the wider population. 

 

13.2 The Virtual School and Participation and Engagement Team organised a variety of 

engagement activities over the past year, including:  

 

▪ Looked After Children and Care Leaver’s Activities;  

 

▪ Involvement of children and young people in recruitment, and training - young 

people continue to be a part of recruitment and training for Family Services staff 

and sit on interview panels with Officers. This has included being involved in the 

recruitment of the Director Family Services, Team Managers within Care Leaving 

Team and the staff within LAC Assist Team.  

Page 53



 

19 
 

 

▪ Thematic consultations - children and young people work collaboratively with the 

Virtual School to widen the reach of participation, carrying out a series of surveys 

that engages a wider audience and gathers views across the age and range of 

young people who are either Looked After Children or Care Leavers 

 

▪ Enrichment programme – the Virtual School has continued to run a wide range of 

activities specifically for Looked After Children, foster carers, and care leavers. 

The projects are run in conjunction with partners including the Lyric Theatre, the 

BBC, Tate Modern, the Arvon Foundation, and Imperial College.  

 

13.9 To increase the duration and depth of existing projects, and to develop new ideas, a 

successful three year grant application was made to John Lyon’s Charity in 2019/20. 

We agreed a mix of projects, learning from the successes of the Arvon writing group 

and the new Fashion School project, which will include a new outdoors activities 

programme starting in London and moving to a rural residential before returning to 

London. An important element of the application was the capacity, increasing over 

the three years, to plan and develop projects in partnership with the children and 

young people who participate. Following the pandemic outbreak, the charity has 

agreed to delay the first payment of the grant to 2021. 

 

14. OUTCOMES FOR CARE LEAVERS  

“Since the Ofsted focused visit in September 2018, targeted improvements to 

the delivery of services to care leavers are resulting in more effective 

responses to young people. Care leavers receive high-quality support from 

knowledgeable social workers, who have a good understanding of their 

needs.” Ofsted Inspection Report September 2019 

 

14.1 The care leavers population (aged 17 to 21) has steadily increased over the last few 

years in Hammersmith and Fulham. March 2020 figures of 264 represents a 37.5% 

increase from 2017/18. 

 

 

Page 54



 

20 
 

 

14.2 The key functions of practitioners working with Care Leavers is to assist, befriend and 

advise young people to make a successful transition from the Council’s care to 

independent living in the community. This includes assessing their needs and 

drawing up a Pathway Plan for their on-going support. The Pathway Plan sets out the 

support available for all aspect of their life, with an emphasis on securing settled 

accommodation and appropriate education, training, and employment (EET). The 

Local Authority has a duty towards eligible; relevant; and former relevant children.  

The Leaving Care Act has two main aims: 

• To ensure that young people do not leave care until they are ready. 

• To ensure that they receive more effective support once they have left. 

 

EDUCATION EMPLOYMENT AND TRAINING 

14.3 The data from 2019/20 shows that 56.6% of care leavers were in education, 

employment or training. This was a drop from previous year’s performance of 60.7%. 

Whilst this is still higher than the national figure of 52.0%, Hammersmith and Fulham 

are aspirational for our young people and determined to do better for them. We are 

reviewing how our current Education, Employment and Training support and 

intervention is offered in order to improve and develop this. The Virtual School 

Headteacher is working in partnership with all Departments across the Council to 

broaden our work experience, pre- employment and apprenticeship opportunities.  

 

14.4 There are continued challenges in reducing NEET levels for Care Leavers given their 
needs are often more complex than peers who have not experienced care. A small 
number of Care Leavers are in custody including those that first entered care as a 
result of being remanded, a high number have complex mental health needs, a 
number of late entrants to care have a range of complex behavioural and emotional 
needs and have had a disrupted education, and there has been an increase in the 
number of former UASC Care Leavers who have experienced disrupted education or 
not had a formal education prior to entering the UK.  The Virtual School and Leaving 
Care Teams are working together to tackle these issues and to improve our 
understanding of the needs of specific groups of Care Leavers. 

 

SUITABILITY OF CARE LEAVER ACCOMMODATION 

14.5 In 2019/20, 90.9% of care leavers aged 19 to 21 were found to be living in 

accommodation that was deemed suitable. This was significantly higher than 
the 2018/19 national average of 85.0% whilst the statistical neighbours and 
inner London average was lower at 84.2% and 83.0% respectively. 

Page 55



 

21 
 

  

CONTACT WITH CARE LEAVERS 

  

14.5 In 2019/20, 91.4% of care leavers were in touch with H&F on their 19th, 20th and 21st 

birthday. This was a drop in performance compared to the previous year whereby 
96.0% of care leavers were in touch with service. Nationally, 89.0% of local 
authorities in 2018/19 were in touch with care leavers aged 19 to 21 whilst 
performance was one percentage point lower at 88.0% for inner London.  
 

 

14.5 Since April 2017 Hammersmith and Fulham has been financially supporting Care 

Leavers who are liable to pay council tax charges until they reach 25 years. The 

Council was the first London authority to introduce and spearhead this change. 

Nationally thirty-five other local authorities have since introduced this exemption.  

 
14.6 Managing budgets can be very challenging for vulnerable young people adjusting to 

living independently. This exemption is intended to ensure that as they begin to 

manage their finances as young adults that the Council relieves some of this 

pressure and that they are given this additional help as they move from care to 

independence.  The decision follows a report by the Children’s Society, called “Wolf 

at the Door” which revealed that council tax debt can be a particularly frightening 

experience for Care Leavers. What can start out for many Care Leavers as falling 

slightly behind can very quickly escalate to a court summons and enforcement action 

being taken. This additional support will give our Care Leavers a helping hand in their 

first step towards independence, helping them to avoid debt as they learn to manage 

their finances. 

 

Page 56



 

22 
 

15.  KEY PRIORITIES FOR 2020 – 2021 

15.1  Permanence planning and oversight  

To ensure that permanence planning for looked after children starts early, and plans are 

achieved on time we have implemented an action plan that covers:  

• Early permanence planning and timeliness of achieving permanence plans  

• Oversight of care planning by IROs and senior managers  

• Redesigning the permanence tracker panel and the permanence board  

• Training and new protocol for IRO to increase their oversight  

• Developing a permanence scorecard to monitor and improve timely achievement of 

plans  

 

15.2  Quality assurance of placements and accommodation 

To ensure children and young people are in the right placement and providers are held to 

account for outcomes. We are developing placement outcomes and an expectations 

framework for providers. Our strategy is to reduce reliance on spot purchase placements for 

care leavers, and either use locally commissioned provision, or the new West London 

Alliance dynamic purchasing vehicle, which has an option for providers to become 

accredited, therefore offering additional quality assurance. The commissioning alliance are 

also providing contract management oversight on this system  

 

15.3  Independent living skills training and transitions  

To ensure that young people can move and live successful adult lives we are: 

• Reviewing the preparation to independent living training  

• Developing a new protocol with adult social care and mental health services 

 

15.4  Care Leavers Housing 

A project group (including colleagues from the Economy and Housing) was formed in 2019 
to improve the accommodation pathway for care leavers in the borough. The overarching 
objectives of the group were to improve outcomes for care leavers through high quality 
housing provision and closer links to family and community support networks.  The Local 
Authority recognises that stable, secure and long-term accommodation provides the 
stability most care leavers need to thrive in other aspects of their life. The impact of the group 
work has led to changes and improvements which are being enacted in 2020/21. This includes 
an increase in availability of in borough semi-independent accommodation and in principle 
agreement to nominate all eligible care leavers for in borough social housing at the point they 
are able to demonstrate ability to hold a tenancy (with or without some additional floating 
support). Further work is being undertaken with Commissioning colleagues to develop the 
floating support offer which promotes tenancy sustainment. The Care Leavers Service and 
Housing Department have also worked together to review and update the Housing Panel 
process so that timely and realistic move on to independence plans are implemented for young 
people. 
 

15.5 COVID-19 response 

Page 57



 

23 
 

As with the general population all our children and young people will have been significantly 

affected by the global pandemic which impacted at the end of this reporting period. As 

Corporate Parents we have a duty to promote their safety and well-being during this 

international health and economic emergency. Therefore, me must continue to ensure that 

we have: 

• Robust systems in place for engaging creatively with our children and young people,  

• Effectively supporting the stability and resilience of care arrangements,  

• Ensure access to education through digital inclusion and access to vulnerable 
children school places 

• Promote access to the right mental health and emotional well-being interventions 

• Recognise risks associated with social isolation for our most vulnerable care leavers 
and develop creatively about how best to engage and support 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

 
Report to: 

 
Children and Education Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

Date: 

 
29 March 2021 

Subject: 

 
Opportunity to comment on the Council’s draft 
Equalities Plan, setting the inclusion agenda for 2021-
2025 

 
Report Author: 

 
Dawn Aunger, Assistant Director of Transformation, 
Talent and Inclusion 

 
Responsible Directors: 

 
Jacqui McShannon, Director of Children Services,  
Rhian Davies, Director of Resources  

 

 
Summary  
 
This report alerts members to the recently launched draft Equalities Plan 2021-2025, 

currently open to public consultation for a 12-week period until the end of April.   

 

 
Recommendation 
 

The Committee is asked to note and comment on the draft Equalities Plan, which will 

reframe and set the borough direction for progressing equality of opportunity over the 

next four years.  

 

 

H&F Priorities  Summary of how this report aligns to the H&F 
Priorities   

Creating a compassionate 
council  

We are a council that acts with compassion. Our vision 
is to become the most inclusive borough in the country. 
We are committed to tackling unfairness and ensuring 
the most vulnerable among us are looked after, 
including as part of our response to Covid-19.  

Doing things with residents, 
not to them 

Residents are at the heart of our draft Equalities Plan for 
2021-25. We are committed to residents developing and 
co-producing council policies and strategies that impact 
on their lives, so they are valued and we remove 
barriers to participation.  

Building shared prosperity Consideration of the needs of people who are 
disadvantaged or suffer inequality is central to the Public 
Sector Equalities Duty. Through considering equalities, 
diversity and inclusion implications at every stage of the 
decision-making process and creating targeted 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



programmes where necessary, we seek to remove 
barriers and ensure that all can share in prosperity.  

Taking pride in H&F 
 
 

Our actions and policies for equalities, diversity and 
inclusion celebrate and protect the diversity of the 
borough, creating a place we can all be proud of. 

Being ruthlessly financially 
efficient 

Working with and valuing the contributions of residents 
leads to services which better meet the needs of our 
population in a financially efficient way.  

Rising to the challenge of 
the climate and ecological 
emergency 

Providing opportunities for training and employment are 
central to the Equalities Plan (particularly objectives 3 
and 4). A green new deal will help recovery from the 
employment effects of Covid by creating new jobs and 
skills.   

 
Introduction 

 

1. Equalities, diversity and inclusion is at the heart of what H&F is about, both as a 

place and a council. That’s why we have a Cabinet Lead for Social Inclusion (the 

Deputy Leader), are the only local authority to have abolished home care charges 

for adult social care and we also provide free breakfasts to all school-age 

children. 

 

2. Our vision is to become the most inclusive borough in the country, where 

residents feel valued, welcome and included, embracing the diversity of 

backgrounds, experiences and perspectives. 

 
3. In 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic highlighted inequalities more than at any other 

time in a generation, making this work more important than ever and has 

dominated the inclusion agenda. Examples of this work, have included 

addressing language barriers to spread the stay at home message; supporting 

children and families to access education; tackling vaccine hesitancy; supporting 

residents whose incomes have been significantly impacted; and supporting 

vulnerable, particular older, residents, to shield. The launch of ‘H&F Can’ in 

March of 2020 underpinned and co-ordinated the support provided to and 

needed by residents during the pandemic and gave an in-depth and 

comprehensive understanding of the inequalities some residents face. 

 
4. Following the success of the resident lead Disabled peoples’ commission, we 

have been working in partnership with disabled residents on the new Civic 

campus project to ensure it becomes the most inclusive and accessible building 

possible. All senior staff and Cabinet Members have been provided with training 

on the social model of disability as recommended by the commission. 

5. After the murder of George Floyd in America in May 2020, evidence of racial 

inequalities and ethnic disparities became further highlighted. The impact of the 

Page 60



pandemic raised clear health inequalities for many communities within the 

borough. These areas of work are a key focus. 

6. The Equalities Plan will provide focus and a framework for inclusion activities 

over the next four years.  

 
7. Members should note that equalities work is well embedded in all departments, 

with equalities implications detailed in every policy and expenditure report as a 

key part of the decision-making process.  

Background 
 
8. H&F is one of the most diverse local authorities in the country. It has a young, 

diverse and mobile population, with the sixth highest mobility rate in London. 

 

9. While parts of the borough are among the least 

deprived and most affluent, there are pockets of 

deprivation. Overall, in 2019 H&F was ranked the 

112th most deprived local authority in England 

according to the national deprivation index which 

looks at measures including living environment, 

housing, crime, income, employment, health and 

education.   

 
10. The borough is split into 113 parts, each comprised 

of around 1,550 residents or 700 households. Only 

one of these (Clem Attlee estate) is ranked in the 

10% most deprived nationally. Some 17% are 

ranked in the next band, 10-20% most deprived. 

These areas are mostly in the north of the borough 

including College Park & Old Oak and Wormholt & 

White City wards, but also in parts of Hammersmith 

and north Fulham.  

 
11. This is an improvement from the previous two 

datasets in 2015 and 2010, where H&F was ranked 91st and 55th most deprived 

respectively. 

 

12. The northern part of H&F is more ethnically diverse than the southern part, with 

diversity greatest in younger age groups. 43% of its residents were born outside 

of the UK, coming from over 100 different countries.  

 

Page 61



13. In mid-2020, 35% of the borough’s residents were estimated to be from an ethnic 

group other than white (up from 32% in 2011).  12% of our population are from a 

Black background, 10% Asian, 7% Arab & Other, and 6% Mixed. 

Launching the 2021-25 H&F Equalities Plan Consultation 
 
14. Steered by the Deputy Leader, our equalities plan seeks to deliver measurable 

improvements.  

 

15. There are nine ‘protected characteristics’ set out in the Equalities Act 2010: age, 

disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 

maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. The Act sets out 

the public sector equality duty to ensure public authorities think about the needs 

of people who are disadvantaged or suffer inequality when making decisions 

about how they provide services and implement policies. Our plan seeks to 

promote equality of opportunity for all.    

 
16. We’ve launched a 12-week public consultation1 of our draft Equalities Plan 

2021-25 which is open until the 30th of April on the council’s consultation 

platform Citizenspace. 

 
17. We’re asking residents to comment on the draft five key objectives.   

 
1 For those not able to access the embedded hyperlink, the consultation can be found at 
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality  

Page 62

https://lbhf.citizenspace.com/hf/equality/
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/1132_hf_draft_equalities_plan_web.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/1132_hf_draft_equalities_plan_web.pdf
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/equality


I. Everyone in our borough must feel valued when the Covid-19 pandemic 
ends  

 
The Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted 
the importance and impact of community 
wellbeing and collaboration. Our goal is to 
keep this at the heart of our public health 
response and draw on it to strengthen 
wider community and social cohesion.  

II. Removing barriers to inclusion   
 

Our objective is to establish H&F as the 
most accessible and inclusive borough in 
the country. Following the 
recommendation of our local Disabled 
People’s Commission, led by local 
Disabled residents, our aim is for all 
residents to be involved in developing and 
co-producing all council policies and 
strategies that impact on their lives. 

III. Ensuring that our services tackle the 
disproportionate impact on young people 
of the risks of street crime and exploitation 
by gangs  

 
We want to make sure that all children and young people at risk of 
gangs and street crime receive the critical services and interventions 
available to better equip them to secure positive opportunities and 
bright futures.   

IV. Improving opportunities for all   
 

We want to create opportunities for residents and communities of all 
backgrounds to flourish, developing their skills and abilities in their 
chosen career paths.  

V. Becoming an employer of choice and fostering greater inclusion 
 

We want to recruit from all sections of our community to ensure that the 
council’s workforce reflects the borough’s diversity whilst creating an 
environment where all staff feel secure and confident in being 
themselves. 

18. Everyone is encouraged to participate in the survey. Equalities, Diversity and 

Inclusion is a corporate commitment and underpins all our priorities and practice 

and we want to ensure a high profile and active engagement across our borough.  

A full report is going to the Public Services Reform Policy and Accountability 

Committee on 7 April which reflects the range of work already in train across the 

council.   

Page 63

https://lbhf.citizenspace.com/hf/equality/consultation/subpage.2021-01-20.6561739956/
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/sites/default/files/section_attachments/1132_hf_draft_equalities_plan_web.pdf


Appendices  
 
Appendix 1 - Draft Equalities Plan 2021 - 2025  

Page 64


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - 27 Jan 2021

	5 Youth Voice Update
	6 School Performance Report 2021
	7 Looked After Children and Care Leavers Annual Report 2019-20
	8 Opportunity to comment on the Council’s draft Equalities Plan, setting the inclusion agenda for 2021-25

